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Foreword
As a CCG we are now two years old…
We set out two years ago to change care, to refocus services around those that use them,
provide joined up c are and t reat the ‘individual’ rather than the 'illness'. We believe this
approach will not only provide better care but also improve the effectiveness of services,
improving the health and wellbeing of our local population and move away from fragmented
health care services.
Have we reached our destination? No, and we may not for many years yet because we have
set ourselves a difficult task. I do believe that this report will show that we have made good
progress. If it were a train trip from London to Crewe then we are probably not yet at Milton
Keynes Central. That may feel disappointing but it shouldn’t be, getting the train on t he
tracks and getting it moving is a big part of the achievement and I wish to highlight some of
those achievements.
We know that in parts of South Cheshire people die earlier than they need to. We know that
some of these early deaths are due to cancer and we have worked to change this. Locally,
we have raised the awareness of cancer symptoms and increased the uptake of screening.
Updated training in cancer for local nurses and doctors and streamlined the procedure for
diagnosing lung cancer. By moving some chemotherapy services from The Christie in
Manchester to Leighton Hospital in Crewe, we have made getting cancer treatment easier
for our patients. As a result of these changes, less people are now dying prematurely but
there is more work to be done. Not least in partnership with the local authority and publ ic
health, we must support people to live healthier lives, reducing their risk or cancer and other
illnesses.
As more of us live with a long-term illness, care services need to help people cope with the
challenges of mental, physical and s ocial difficulties that long-term medical conditions can
bring. Rather than providing lots of one off attempts to 'fix me' and leave, services need to
respond better to 'help me' and stay around to support the individual. That is why locally we
will deliver Integrated Community Teams made up o f workers from mental and phy sical
health and social care, who will work together in a joined up way to deliver care. Our plans
are to have these teams in place by the summer of 2015. This approach applies to mental
health as well as physical health needs and we have business cases to support the care of
those living with personality disorders and dementia. For those who live with the effects of
stroke we have introduced new community rehabilitation services to seamlessly pick up care
following stroke and help people reach their individual aims and goals.
For others their need is urgent; collapse, stroke, accidents, heart attack, mental and social
crisis will all happen no matter how well we work to prevent them. With local partners we are
delivering STAIRRS (Short Term Assessment, Intervention, Recovery and R ehabilitation)
which will refocus existing services to provide care closer to home, rebalancing the use of
bed based services. This will form part of the bigger vision of 24/7 Urgent Care, which in
addition aims to bring together urgent care services across A&E, GP Out of Hours and the
Urgent Care Centre, providing a 'single front door' to urgent care services. The service will
see people being treated closer to home ensuring the best intervention care at the right time
is available at either our local acute hospital; Leighton Hospital or at regional centres such as
Royal Stoke University Hospital.
Joined up, competent and compassionate care is never more important than for those at the
end of their life. As such, we have introduced EPACCS (Electronic Palliative Care
Coordination System) across the local area to provide information to all health care services
about a person’s health and choices at the end of their life. As more of us have and will die
with dementia, we have worked with The End of Life Partnership; a locally based charity with
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strong links to our local hospice St Luke's, to support the needs and c hallenges of those
who are approaching the end of their life with dementia. This team of Macmillan and Admiral
nurses, therapist, educationalist and social care workers aim to improve the experience of
those with dementia and their families by working with existing services.
Last but certainly not least I want to mention the 'maintenance' work that goes on continually.
The monitoring of the quality and performance of services, acting on complaints or feedback,
review of services like the children and adolescent mental health services that allows
improvement to be identified and then put in place. Without the work the train would not be
on the tracks at all.
I hope that for many this report is a pleasing read, that the achievements to date speak for
themselves and that our ambition to achieve more can be felt. But most of all I hope that
some of you reading this have received better care because of this work.

Dr Andrew Wilson
Clinical Leader and Chair of the Governing Body.
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1. Member Practices’ Introduction
1.1.

Who we are

NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) exists to improve the health and
healthcare of the local population. Our aim is to use the local knowledge of our GPs and
their practice teams to develop the way that health services are delivered and hel p our
patients to make full use of the services that are available.
We are a membership organisation comprised of 18 member practices (illustrated below).
The practices cover a geographical area of Cheshire stretching from Audlem in the south to
Middlewich in the north. Crewe is a large manufacturing town and much of the surrounding
area is made up of smaller, rural market towns. The total registered population is 173,000.
NHS South Cheshire CCG’s geographic area falls entirely within the boundary of Cheshire
East Council.
Close relationships exist between ourselves and N HS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG), with whom we share a management team. We also work closely with NHS
Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) which lies to the east of our patch
and with whom we share community health services and the local authority.
The acute general hospital, our main provider, is Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust (MCHFT), which is situated just outside Crewe. Mental health services are provided by
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CWP) and E ast Cheshire NHS
Trust, which forms part of East Cheshire NHS Trust, provides community health services,
such as district nursing, health visiting and therapy services.

We have responsibility for designing and commissioning local health services and will do this
by commissioning or buying health and care services including:
•

Elective hospital care

•

Rehabilitation care
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•

Urgent and emergency care

•

Most community health services

•

Mental health and learning disability services

•

Emergency and patient transport services

We work with patients and heal thcare professionals and i n partnership with local
communities and local authorities. We are responsible for arranging emergency and urgent
care services within our boundaries, and f or commissioning services for any unregistered
patients who live in our area. All GP practices have to belong to a Clinical Commissioning
Group.

1.2.

Our Team

Our Constitution has been updated and ratified by NHS England. Our Constitution states
that, as a Membership Council, we delegate authority to the Governing Body to effectively
and efficiently run the CCG on our behalf.
Our organisational structure can be found in appendix one. This illustrates our Membership
Council and G overning Body, together with its Committees and S ub Committees and the
lines of reporting and communication.
Our CCG team is clinically led and c omprise of clinicians and a s mall management team.
We also have a Secondary Care Doctor and an Executive Nurse Lead who form part of the
Governing Body, along with three Lay Members.
Our GPs and c linicians have a wealth of local knowledge, clinical expertise and a r eal
passion to improve health and c are for the people within our local communities. We have
GPs who lead on specific pieces of work in service Quality and Safety, Children and Young
people, Urgent and P lanned Care, as well as Primary Care Quality. We see clinical
involvement as a v ital ingredient to support us to continue to strive for an improvement in
clinical outcomes for our population, whilst ensuring that we are able to deliver the service
changes that are required and that the local care system remains sustainable with regards to
meeting the increased demand. Our three Lay Members hold portfolio roles and
responsibilities for Governance and Audit and Patient and Public Engagement.
When we formed as a CCG on 1st April 2013 we took the local decision, with our members,
to create a shared management team with our neighbouring CCG, NHS Vale Royal CCG.
This was to ensure that we work more efficiently and have a real focus on using every pound
of taxpayers money in as effective manner as possible. In adopting this approach we also
strive to acknowledge local differences within our population and local communities. On this
basis we have our own Governing Bodies supporting the two retrospective CCGs who are
supported by this shared management team. The shared management team makes sense
given that the main providers of acute, community and mental health care are the same.
In order for the establishment tables within this section of the annual report to reconcile with
the financial accounts (note 4), we have altered the method of calculating staff numbers from
head count to an employed whole time equivalent basis.
During 2014-2015 NHS South Cheshire CCG employed 61 WTE members of staff across a
range of disciplines within the shared management team Included within this, NHS South
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Cheshire host the Continuing Healthcare and Complex Care Service that operates across
five CCGs including NHS South Cheshire CCG and the Adult and Children’s Safeguarding
Service that operates across the two CCGs covering the Cheshire East Local Authority area.
CCG Head Count

Total

Administrative and Clerical (inclusive of
managerial staff)

47

Medical and Dental

2

Nursing and Midwifery Registered

7

Add Prof Scientific and Technical

5

Total

61

Absence
In the rolling 12 month period there were 295 whole time equivalent days lost to sickness. At
the end of March 2015 there was an average of 4.5 days sickness absence per WTE.

1.2.1. We are an Equal Opportunity Employer
As a C linical Commissioning Group, we are committed to equality of opportunity for all
employees and ar e committed to employment practices, policies and procedures which
ensure that no employee, or potential employee, receives less favourable treatment on the
grounds of gender, race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status,
religion or belief, age, trade union membership, disability, offending background, domestic
circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment, political
affiliation or any other personal characteristic as outlined in the Equality Act (2010) and any
other status covered by the Human Rights Act (1998). Diversity will be viewed positively
and, in recognising that everyone is different, the unique contribution that each individual’s
experience, knowledge and skills can make is valued equally.
The promotion of equality and diversity is actively pursued through our policies ensuring that
employees receive fair, equitable and consistent treatment and ensuring that employees,
and potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect discrimination.
It is a condition of employment that all employees respect and a ct in accordance with the
Equality and Diversity Policy. Failure to do so will result in the disciplinary procedure being
instigated, which could result in dismissal.
We have an Equality and Diversity Policy that has been approved by Staff Side Partners and
ratified by the Governing Body. Further details regarding equality and diversity can be found
on page 54.

1.2.2. Staff Partnership Forum
We acknowledge that the effective and pr oductive conduct of employee relations benefits
significantly from a recognised forum within which all stakeholders play an active role in
partnership working. In support of this, we agreed to actively participate in the Cheshire and
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Merseyside Staff Partnership Forum. This forum aims to both identify, and facilitate, the
workforce and em ployment aspects of the NHS locally in developing arrangements to
implement required changes that may affect the workforce.
The Staff Partnership Forum is the main body for actively engaging, consulting and
negotiating with key staff side stakeholders (including Trade Union representatives). T he
committee is authorised to agree, revise and review policies and procedures that may relate
to changes in employment legislation and regulation or terms and conditions of employment
effecting staff covered by the national Agenda for Change Terms and Conditions. Any
policies approved by the Staff Partnership Forum are then subject to formal ratification by
the Governing Body on behalf of the CCG.

1.2.3. Staff Support
During the year the CCG continued to remain fully committed to the health and positive
wellbeing of its employees as we understand that the health and wellbeing of the workforce
is crucial to the delivery of improvements in patient care envisaged in the NHS Constitution.
All staff have access to a comprehensive Occupational Health Service including support for
Visual Unit Display (VDU) users and confidential counselling services.
As a CCG, we have continued to hold health and wellbeing events for our staff and within
the Human Resources and Organisational Development Strategy the section on well-being
has been reviewed and strengthened for the forthcoming year.

1.2.4. Workforce Development
As a CCG, we recognise that our employees are our most valuable assets. Both our
management and clinical team are highly skilled and extremely passionate about improving
patient outcomes, people’s experience of care and ensuring that patients are at the heart of
all decision-making within the CCG. Over the past year the CCG has adopted a new
Learning Management System designed by the North West Commissioning Support Unit
(CSU). The new system delivers statutory and mandatory training to ensure our workforce
have the knowledge and ex pertise required to ensure they are compliant with the CCG
policies and procedures required to protect themselves and others.
We have adopted an a nnual appraisal system in order to support the performance and
development of our staff and this is further underpinned by regular 1-1 discussions with line
managers throughout the year. O ur Remuneration Committee’s terms of reference state
that the current organisation’s objectives and appr aisal system is the method by which
performance and achievement of corporate objectives are measured.
We actively engage our team in organisational and personal development opportunities. This
year a number of the team have taken an active part in National Leadership Development
Programmes such as NHS Top Leaders, Nye Bevan, Mary Seacole and the Aspiring Talent
Programme (NHS Leadership Academy). Our clinicians are also enthusiastically involved in
regional and nat ional networks and hav e undertaken development work supported by the
Advancing Quality Alliance (AQuA). Our three work programmes of Starting Well, Living
Well and Ageing Well have also undertaken a number of development opportunities. The
Governing Body is also working through an agreed organisational development plan that
looks to ensure that all of its members are able to complete their role to the best of their
ability.
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As a CCG we are keen to reach out to engage with a wide range of people within our
communities and with colleagues working in health and social care to create joint
opportunities to learning and dev elopment i.e. safeguarding multi-agency training, joint
leadership training.
NHS South Cheshire CCG is committed to deliver new models of care in the future and for
the NHS to be sustainable and provide quality joined-up care. As such, we are committed to
the delivery of our ‘Connecting Care Strategy’ with our social, community, acute and mental
health providers. This Strategy also describes how we will equip our staff and managers with
the skills and leadership ability to work effectively in theses prescribed new models of care.
In particular these areas of the strategy will focus on t he development of a l eadership
academy.
At NHS South Cheshire CCG we believe the delivery of high quality health care is
underpinned by the development of a w orkforce that has the right numbers, skills, values
and behaviours. To achieve this goal, we recognise we have a role to play in the
identification of what these ‘right’ numbers, skills, values and beha viours are, and t hen
influence our Local Education and Training Board (LETB) to support their delivery. During
2015/16 we will explore our planned service transformation initiatives; developing workforce
proposals reflect the needs of our Connecting Care Strategy and the challenge of changing
and growing health needs.

1.2.5. Human Resources and Organisational Strategy
During 2014/15 the CCG has reviewed its Human Resources and Organisational
Development strategy which will be launched during quarter 2 of 2015/16. This is viewed as
an important piece of work and we have taken the time during our first year to listen and to
understand the issues in order to help shape this crucial document.

1.3.

Who we work with

As a C CG, we recognise that it is how we work with our partners that will really make a
difference to the health outcomes of our population. We work in partnership with a number
of other organisations and agencies. O ver the last year we have further developed and
strengthened our relationships across the Cheshire footprint and beyond. As a CCG we are
accountable to NHS England, and work closely with the NHS England Area Team (covering
Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral). The NHS England Area Team regularly seeks assurance
from us regarding our commissioning responsibilities. Within the past year we have had
three quarterly assurance visits. A t each of the quarterly assurance meetings we have
received positive feedback from the NHS England Area Team. Through these meetings we
have built successful relationships and we envisage that this will continue going forward.
We collaborate with NHS Vale Royal CCG, and NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and our local
authority, Cheshire East Council. During the last year we have continued to co-operate, pool
resources, and work together to best meet the needs of our local communities. An example
of this is the really positive progress that has been made to support the development of the
Better Care Fund submission. We are also a key partner in the development of the
transformation plan across all health and social care partners for Connecting Care.
As a C CG we have actively contributed to the development of the strategies and w ork
closely with our colleagues in health and social care. During the coming year we will seek to
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further engage with our partners via the Health and Wellbeing Board as well as the
Connecting Care Board.
The Health and Wellbeing Board Partnership Network, of which our CCG participates in, has
a valuable role to play in addressing the priorities contained in the Health and Wellbeing
strategy. It brings together leaders from key organisations to enable change and this
Network is ideally placed to overcome barriers by working together.
Each of the partners involved in developing the strategy have strategies and action plans to
address short-term and specific health and wellbeing needs. We believe that the value of
the Health and Wellbeing Board - and of this strategy - is in addressing issues that we can
influence the most as a partnership and over time, not just in any financial year. The aim of
the strategy is not to provide an ex tensive list of initiatives that partners will implement to
promote better health; rather it focuses on the most complex and c ritical needs of our
population and w ill be ev aluated and updat ed on a r egular basis in the light of progress,
feedback and the evolving needs of our communities.
We receive Commissioning Support Services from North West Commissioning Support Unit.
(NWCSU). The Commissioning Support Unit supports our CCG and NHS England in
undertaking their commissioning responsibilities and delivering the best possible outcomes
for patients.
We work with NWCSU as a k ey partner. There is a S ervice Level Agreement established
between the CCGs and the CSU to manage the quality of the services that the CSU
provides and this runs until March 2016. The services that are provided to the CCG are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Technology Support (Information and Communication Technology)
Business Intelligence and Data Management
Process Centre and Governance Support (Individual Funding Requests,
Information Governance, Compliance and Assurance Claims)
Communications Support
Human Resources Support
Procurement Advice and Guidance
Continuing Health Care (CHC) – during 2014-15 Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral
CCGs established a shared service to deliver the CHC service. The North West
Commissioning Support Unit (NW CSU) continues to provide Contract Advice
and Data Management Support for this service.

This support is developed through a locality model so that our services can be understood
and accessed locally. Each of these functions has a locality lead. The CSU and CCG staff
share office space to enhance the way that the two organisations work together.
We are proud to work with, and continue to develop links to, our biggest community assets in
terms of both the third and voluntary sector organisations. Across Cheshire we work with
numerous organisations to provide health and care support services, but to also deepen our
community engagement work. We firmly believe that the public are key partners in
developing how care should be provided and should directly influence what good care looks
like.

1.4.

Engaging our patients and stakeholders

NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) holds patient and publ ic
involvement in high regards and believes that true success occurs when we share, involve
and engage with our local population. Much emphasis has been placed on ensuring this has
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occurred in the last 12 m onths and e ffort and time is being put in to ensure public
engagement increases and strengthens over the coming year and beyond.
By working with our patients, stakeholders and partners we seek to embed sustainable
engagement in the health and social care system working with our partners and view it as
key to achieving excellent, safe and quality services. We consider our local population to be
the experts; knowing what services and support they may need and want.
NHS South Cheshire CCG has a wide range of stakeholders it also involves and
communicates with in order to achieve set objectives. We recognise the huge value that the
Voluntary Sector can bring to the CCG in tackling some of the challenges we face delivering
care to our local population. We believe the voluntary and community sector is a valuable
resource that has in-depth local knowledge about South Cheshire. The CCG has taken time
to gather this intelligence and focus insight to drive our commissioning intentions for 201416. The information helps us to build up our understanding of the local needs as well as any
gaps in services within South Cheshire. We can then, together, plan how to address these.
All 18 GP practices within South Cheshire have Patient Participation Groups (PPGs) based
in their GP practice with some operating on a v irtual basis. PPGs are patient groups that
come together to discuss how the practice can be improved and made more efficient in
delivering care to its patients.
The South Cheshire Federation of PPGs has continued to grow and be s trengthened with a
core membership from PPGs, and stakeholders.
As a C CG we see this as a v ital part of our desire to keep patients and the public at the
centre of its decision making process. Using the expertise and k nowledge of patients and
groups who represent local people who use health services will ensure that we commission
services that our patients and public want and need. This forum will continue to evolve and
be a t rue representation of the population of South Cheshire and r ecently we have been
continuing our relationship with our local Young Advisors to encourage young people’s
voices to be heard regarding health and health services.
As our healthcare landscape continues to evolve, we recognise that it is important that
relationships are developed with key stakeholders and pr oviders. Investing time to build
relationships is a worthwhile venture to allow for strong, effective partnership working in the
coming years and t o provide wider insight and under standing about the priorities of local
people. NHS South Cheshire CCG has worked very closely with Cheshire East to help
strengthen public and patient voice in the area and i nfluence positive change. Both
organisations are committed to openness and t ransparency and en gaging with the local
community to ensure that diverse and seldom heard voices have a platform from which to be
heard.
We have been committed to proactively seeking the views of the public, patients, their carers
and other stakeholders to consult widely across all levels of decision making and putting into
action the direction from the Secretary of State for Health, ‘no decision about me, without
me’.

1.4.1

Setting the Scene

With the introduction of Connecting Care, a s hift in how we engage with our patients and
members of the public is happening within NHS South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group. To achieve improvements in quality and to enable change to meet our challenges,
we see great value in ensuring that our local communities are fully included in all aspects of
service design and change, and that patients are fully empowered in their own care.
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Therefore our engagement, involvement and c ommunications plans work to enable this
improvement and are constantly evolving and building on that early work and its subsequent
developments.

1.4.2

Specific Consultation

Over the last year we have carried out a num ber of engagement / consultation activities.
These include:
•

Paediatric pathway review – to understand the behaviours and experiences behind
increasing hospital admissions in the 0-5 year old age group. Recommendations were
also given following this review

•

Operational plan review – to showcase and i nvite comments and feedback on the
content, format and style of the public facing operational plan for NHS South Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group. A diverse range of groups were included in this
consultation including PPGs, employees and young people

•

Quality and safeguarding strategy consultation – to introduce the strategy to colleagues,
patients and publ ic to determine and t ake feedback as to whether it is suitable and
appropriate to take forward to embed

We have also provided responses to a number of external consultations and policy reviews,
including:
•
•
•

Cheshire East Council – Children’s strategy
Veterans and armed forces service leavers strategy
With Cheshire East Council - ‘My life, my say’ – service planning for patients with
learning disabilities

1.4.3

Programme specific engagement and outcomes

During the year, we have carried out our work under three Strategic Programmes:
•
•
•

Starting Well
Living Well
Ageing Well

In addition to delivering transformational change, these programmes deliver core business
around performance, contract management, risk management, quality improvement and
assurance and financial probity.
We have also undertaken partnership commissioning alongside other CCGs, local
authorities and N HS England. Our programme approach brings clarity to our work and
projects and aligns with our Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
The following section provides some examples of our work (it is not an exhaustive list):
•

Starting Well – The starting well team understand that to communicate meaningfully
with their broad range of stakeholders they need to use a breadth of communications
and engagement channels. Face to face focus groups were held to engage directly
and to receive feedback and insight into the current service provision and to gauge
feeling and understanding of proposed commissioning intentions. Although this is
an incredibly effective channel it isn't suitable for all and a range of digital and online
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solutions were developed to ensure the starting well team engaged and involved
these audiences. It was well used by young people who in particular prefer an online
platform for engagement. To support this online platform in an educational setting
our clinical lead spent time at schools and youth forums to discuss the rights of a
young person and how their voice can be heard in health care.
•

Living Well – A review of services available for veterans of the armed forces,
reservists and their families due t o the high numbers of depression, anxiety and
alcohol abuse in this cohort of patients. To date a consultation has been undertaken
across the CCG and following this the service specification has been updated. The
community pain management service has been reviewed and a r evised service
specification developed, engagement and involvement events ensured that patient’s
feedback and experiences were fed back into the specification process.

•

Ageing Well – We have continued to engage with our local population at a range of
local events and promoted various initiatives including ‘Think Pharmacy’. The local
carers surveys (one for each local authority area) has been i ssued to the local
community in November 2014 with the results expected shortly. In January 2015 a
series of information and engagement sessions for and w ith our local carers were
undertaken, in conjunction with partnering CCGs and the local authorities. This
provided valuable information and feedback on local services, and requirements for
the future and t his has been incorporated in recent commissioning plans and i nto
the revised Joint Carers Strategy (which is currently – April 2015- in course of
ratification).
As part of our pain management review the CCG held a focus group with a number of
people from the Expert Patients programme (both patients and volunteer trainers) to
help inform and shape the service outcomes as part of developing the specification
for the procurement. It is our intention to 'recruit' one or two of those individuals
to our evaluation panel at the stage where bidders are asked to present their service
model to commissioners, to ensure that what their proposing is evaluated from the
perspective of a patient who lives with Chronic pain and has learnt to 'live well' with it.

1.4.4

Patient Case Studies

The CCG holds patient and public involvement in high regard and believes that true success
occurs when we share, involve and engage with our local population. We have a real desire
to make a difference to the communities of South Cheshire and want to enable all residents
to have a v oice in local health services and dec ision making. This is underpinned by our
belief that patient and carer experiences are critical in supporting us to improve quality and
reduce variations in service and health inequalities.
Here is an ex ample of a patient sharing their experiences and w here we have made a
difference
Lynette, a recently retired grandmother was called for her routine mammogram.
Unfortunately this showed that she had a stage 3 cancer, which needed immediate
treatment.
At each stage of her treatment planning, Lynette received support and care from Breast
Cancer nurses and clinicians, making her feel empowered and in control.
Lynette’s mastectomy was carried out promptly, she even felt well enough to go home the
same day to the care of her family and friends.
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The daily chemotherapy treatment that followed was delivered at Leighton Hospital, which is
much closer to home. This made a hug e difference as instead of having to travel to The
Christies Hospital, Manchester; Lynette only had to go a short distance.
She has gone on to make a full recovery.
Making a difference: cancer care is provided closer to home at Leighton Hospital, so
patients don’t have to travel long distances to receive treatment.

1.5.

Our progress and performance

As a member organisation we have agreed the local health priorities during 2014/15 in our
business plan. The table below highlights some of the key priorities for last year, and also
our view as Members of the progress to date. This is not an ex haustive list but seeks to
provide the reader with a flavour of our work during 2014-15.
Our Progress During 2014-15
DOMAIN ONE – PREVENTING PEOPLE FROM DYING PREMATURELY
NHS South Cheshire CCG aims to prevent people from dying prematurely by promoting
good health and discouraging decisions and behaviours that put people’s health at risk.
Where people do develop a health condition, we aim to commission services that diagnose
this early and manage it within the community so that it does not deteriorate:

Early Diagnosis
of Cancer

Due to the excellent work undertaken over the last year there has
been a reduction in early deaths for people under 75s:
•

Within the last year the CCG has worked to improve the cancer
screening uptake across the locality.

•

Due to this success the CCG is now ranked in the top 20% of
all CCGs in England.

•

Bowel, breast and cervical screening uptakes have slightly
improved.

•

Bowel, cervical and breast screening uptakes are higher than
the national average.

•

24 Educational sessions have been run within primary care to
raise cancer awareness and to improve the local knowledge
of the primary care workforce and the Macmillan risk
assessment tools in place to help detect cancer earlier.

•

22 Practice Nurses attended a 6 day Macmillan Cancer course
in September to help them identify cancer, enable them to refer
for diagnostics to consider a cancer diagnosis and support their
patients going through and living with the effects of cancer.

•

There have been cancer focused Protected Learning Time
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events held across both NHS South Cheshire and NHS Vale
Royal CCGs that were attended by 140 primary care clinicians.
Specialist
Educational
Needs and
Disabilities
(SEND)

Learning
Disabilities
Mortality

Risk
Stratification

The Starting Well team has been actively engaged in the
development and implementation of the Children and Families Act
2014 SEND reforms with Cheshire East Council and Cheshire West
and Chester Council.
•

Joint Commissioning: the CCGs have worked successfully with
both local councils to jointly develop a children and young
people’s SEND joint commissioning strategy and priority work
plan which is now being implemented

•

The CCGs have a legislative duty to provide a Designated
Clinical Officer to act on behalf of the CCG and oversee the
health contribution to the Education Health and Care process

•

The Designated Clinical Officer has been jointly commissioned
by both NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG
in conjunction with NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG, and part
funded by both Local Authorities - Cheshire East Council &
Cheshire West and Chester Council, via a one year contract
with East Cheshire NHS Trust. Feedback from local authorities
and health staff has shown that the Designated Clinical Officer
role has been an invaluable source of information, guidance
and staff support and has ensured the CCG has met its
statutory requirements. This role is already showing that this
new role has been an invaluable source of information,
guidance and staff support and has ensured the CCG has met
its statutory requirements.

The Health Inequalities Framework has been developed to ensure we
have adequate outcome measures to demonstrate the impact of
service interventions on the health and wellbeing of people with
learning disabilities. It is based on the five determinants of health
inequalities -it enables services to demonstrate the impact of
interventions on individuals. The Health Equality Framework has been
introduced to Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
services for people with Learning Disabilities through a Commissioning
for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) scheme in 2014/15. It is hoped
that by undertaking these screening programmes undetected health
conditions would be highlighted and treated accordingly to extend the
life expectancy of this cohort of patients. Phase one of the project has
been to obtain data from primary care to enable a retrospective review
of patient care and this is underway with early results identifying the
values of a “case study” approach. Work continues in phase two to
collect secondary care data.
The CCG has purchased a patient record system (EMIS – Egton
Medical Information System), which is a risk stratification tool which will
be deployed across all the GP practices within the CCG in April 2015.
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DOMAIN TWO – ENHANCING QUALITY OF LIFE FOR PEOPLE WITH LONG TERM
CONDITIONS
NHS South Cheshire CCG is committed to supporting people to be as independent and
healthy as possible if they live with a long-term condition such as heart disease, COPD or
depression, preventing any complications and the need to go into hospital. If they do need
to be treated in hospital, the CCG will support NHS provider services to work with social
care and other services to ensure that people are supported to leave hospital and recover in
the community.
Integrated
Community
Teams

There has been significant planning for the delivery of the Integrated
Community Teams in 2014/15. The Provider Board set up an Integrated
Community Services Steering Group which has produced a delivery
plan for the teams, which was presented to the CCG Clinical
Commissioning Executive (CCE). These teams will form a major
element of the Better Care Fund Submissions on both the Cheshire
West and Chester Council and Cheshire East Council footprints in
2015/16. This plan was approved by the CCE and the Provider Board is
now working on delivering this plan on a staged implementation through
2015/16 with pilot areas being identified in both Vale Royal and South
Cheshire.

Paediatric
Pathways 0 – 5
Admissions

The Starting Well team looked at data and found that a high proportion
of admissions for the 0-5s which were 0 days length of stay were for
respiratory illness. Engagement events have taken place to get
feedback from minority groups and specific cohorts of parents to enable
us to have a better understanding of how they use the current urgent
care system.

Children with
Long Term
Conditions

Work is continuing across the CCG to improve the health of children
with long term conditions. The CCG has developed a CQUIN with
MCHFT around Transition for Young people with long term conditions
with a focus on diabetes this will be implemented from 1st April 2015.

Memory
Services with
Dementia

The CCG has successfully developed a shared care arrangement for
primary and secondary care to ensure that patients living with
dementia and their carers\families are well supported and achieve the
best possible outcomes. A consultation and engagement process has
been undertaken with local stakeholders to review the existing
services. This work will be picked up within the primary care mental
health team review as this links with shifting the resource from
secondary into primary care and commissioning additional dementia
support services from the third sector. Work has continued with
existing providers of dementia services and the third sector, to model
the increased resource required to deliver the improved dementia
support.

Personality
Disorder

National statistics highlight that this cohort of patients have a higher
than average incidence of self-harm and suicide. The CCG undertook a
review was undertaken to look at the services provided by Cheshire and

18

Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CWP) for people suffering
with a personality disorder. A business case has been developed to
support the delivery of a multi-disciplinary complex care team that
would enable CWP to increase the number of patients they treat each
year by offering a wide range of therapies to suit the various cohorts of
patients who suffer with this condition.
Primary Care
Mental Health
Team

Working closely with the Integrated Community Teams programme,
this team will deliver a coordinated healthcare system that will benefit
our local population. The aim of the project is to deliver high quality
care that result in improved health and wellbeing and a better
experience for adults with complex care needs. This team will include
a review of liaison psychiatry teams and memory clinics. Within year
one there have been comprehensive reviews of the teams that already
exist that have fed into their individual business cases. From these
business cases it was decided that there would form part of the
business case for a Primary Care Mental Health Team. The business
case was presented in July 2014; following this a consultation and
engagement review was held with stakeholders.

Stroke
Rehabilitation
Pathway

The stroke rehabilitation pathway was reviewed and a specialist
community stroke rehabilitation team has been developed to assist
early supported discharge from hospital to home or from a stroke unit
this service has a direct benefit for all of the 5 of the domains from the
NHS outcomes framework. The procurement process has now been
completed with East Cheshire NHS Trust being awarded the contract.

DOMAIN THREE – HELPING PEOPLE TO RECOVER FROM EPISODES OF ILL
HEALTH OR FOLLOWING INJURY
There has been an ever-increasing demand on our hospitals over the past 10 years – a
35% increase in people being admitted to hospital as an emergency and a 65% increase in
the episodes of care in hospitals for over 75s. Patients in our hospitals are older and frailer,
and around 25% have a diagnosis of dementia. (Source: NHS England). Care that is not
joined up, particularly between health and social care services, is causing increased
admission and readmission amongst those with long term conditions and the elderly. The
outcomes of care vary significantly across the country. NHS South Cheshire CCG is
committed to ensuring that if people do experience an episode of ill health or suffer an
injury, our NHS provider services should treat them effectively and support them to recover
and restore their maximum independence as quickly as possible.
Intermediate
care services
review

A vision for the future provision of intermediate care and reablement
services to be known at Short Term Assessment, Intervention,
Recovery and Rehabilitation Service (STAIRRS) has been
created. STAIRRS seeks to bring together existing intermediate care,
reablement and other community support services to shift the balance
of provision from acute bed based services to community step up and
home based health and social care support to improve patient
outcomes and deliver more cost effective, sustainable care. This
scheme is an element of the Better Care Fund submissions on both
the Cheshire West and Chester Council and Cheshire East Council
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footprints and will be delivered going forward by the Provider Board
through the Integrated Community Team and Urgent and Rapid Care
schemes.
24/7 urgent care
review

The review is aimed at delivering an urgent care system across health
and social care that is responsive to patient need and delivers quality
care in the most suitable setting. Within 2014 the outline business
case was devised by the CCG and the development of protocols and
processes has taken place with our providers to support the integration
of the Emergency Department, the Urgent Care Centre and our GP
Out of Hours service. The CCG is currently developing clear and
concise outcomes for the project.

Cancer
diagnosis and
treatment
pathways
compliant with
NICE Guidance

In order to be compliant with National Institute for Health and Clinical
Excellence (NICE) Improving Outcome guidance - gynaecological and
urology cancer pathways have been reviewed during 2014-15, this
pathway review was also required due to health inequality and
population health need reports and commissioning for value
recommendations for both lung and upper Gastrointestinal (GI) cancer
pathways. Specialised commissioning led the gynaecological review in
2014 and following this the CCG and Specialist Commissioning Team
have accomplished the implementation of improved new providers and
a revised pathway that is compliant with NICE Improving Outcomes
guidance. There has been a reduction in specialised centres for
gynaecological cancer across Manchester and Cheshire from four to
two centres in line with national best practice guidance and
rationalisation of specialised centres.

Think Pharmacy

The Think Pharmacy Minor Ailments service is now live and
implemented, providing our population with greater access to advice
and treatment for minor ailments. This work has been an important part
of the CCGs self-care, self-management schemes and also part of the
‘Choose Well’ campaign.

NHS111

There was a formal announcement on 13th March 2015 to say that
North West Ambulance Service along with First Choice Medical Supply
and Urgent Care 24 had been successful with their bids to provide the
NHS 111 service. North West Ambulance Service will continue as the
stability provider until 30th September 2015.

DOMAIN FOUR – ENSURING THAT PEOPLE HAVE A POSITIVE EXPERIENCE OF
CARE
Positive patient experience is common in NHS. However, care is inconsistent, as seen in
recent examples of the unacceptable care documented in the Francis and Winterbourne
View reports. The poorest care is often received by those least likely to make complaints,
exercise choice or have family to speak up for them, and there is evidence of unequal
access to care. Patient experience is everybody’s business, yet evidence suggests the
NHS does not consistently deliver patient-centred care, and that there are particular
challenges in coordinating services around the needs of the patient (rather than passing the
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patient between services). Good patient experience is associated with improved clinical
outcomes and contributes to patients having control over their own health. We also know
that good staff experience is fundamental for ensuring good patient experience. NHS South
Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG are both committed to achieving and supporting
our providers to achieve consistently: compassion and respect for patient’s preferences and
expressed needs; equal access to services; good communication and information; physical
comfort; emotional support; welcoming the involvement of family and friends. As CCGs we
will continue to improve the mechanisms by which we seek out, listen to and act on patient
feedback, ensuring the patient and carer voice is heard and directly influences
improvements across our health and social care landscape.
Chemotherapy
reform and
acute oncology

The focus of this work is to improve patient outcomes of people going
through treatment for cancer and to provide cancer services closer to
home. In February 2014 the breast chemotherapy service was moved
from The Christies Hospital to Leighton Hospital. In April 2014 the CCG
secured Macmillan funding to support the development of an acute
oncology service to be provided in the community. A communications
plan and education regarding the community acute oncology have
been developed for primary care colleagues in (February
2015). Through this work programme the CCG has enabled patients to
travel less distance for their chemotherapy treatments therefore
improving a positive patient experience outcome.

Dementia
Services for
people at End of
Life

The CCG in partnership with our local hospices and Dementia UK
have agreed to run a two year pilot commissioning a dementia end of
life service to enhance the quality of experiences and care for patients
with dementia, their carers and family members. The team which
comprises of an Admiral Nurse, Macmillan Nurse, Speech and
Language Therapist, Educationalist and Social Work Team Leader was
operational from February 2015. They are working with the wider
workforce proving education, training and co-working clinically with
complex cases. External evaluation with support from the University of
Liverpool is in place and measures of the outcomes of this team are
underway.

Co-ordinated
End of Life Care

This project has been developed to ensure high quality, co-ordinated
end of life care pathways across all care settings that respects patients
and carers choice. This builds upon other work to transform our local
people's end of life experience by supporting seamless care from all
partners to local people in their last year of life. The end of life
partnership was launched in April 2014 and involved the merging of
three existing work streams - education and practice development,
service facilitation / development and public health and well-being. A
new work stream has been added focused on research and
evaluation. A total of 32 stakeholders support the End of Life
Partnership including four local CCG's, three hospices, three acute
hospitals, two local councils as well as community partners. The End of
Life Partnership supports the effective delivery of all our
local outcomes for best quality co-ordinated end of life care.

Child

A review has taken place of the Child Adolescent Mental Health Service

21

Adolescent
Mental Health
Service
Specification
review

(CAMHS) to ensure the provision across tiers 2 and 3 meet the needs
of the children and young people within our localities. A baseline review
by Mental Health Strategies, an independent consultancy, has taken
place to gather information on the service provisions currently provided
by Cheshire and Wirral Partnership Trust. Following the baseline
review a review of the mental health strategies took place providing the
CCG with assurance on the quality of the provider with
recommendations on future commissioning and contract management
of the service. Joint commissioning of the CAMHS service is in early
development with the local authorities and neighbouring CCGs. Further
development of these services are to take place over the next financial
year.

Electronic
Palliative Care
Coordination
System
(EPACCS)

This project is to develop an Electronic Palliative Care Coordination
System (EPaCCS) to incorporate an electronic shared care record that
can be accessed across the health care system. This would enable
health and third sector providers to have access to patient records that
would provide them with the most up to date information of the patient’s
current health status and choices and wishes for their EOL
care reducing the need of the patient to replicate information relating to
their last year of life. This will prevent unnecessary admissions to
hospital, inappropriate attempts of resuscitation and anticipatory care
available.

Seven day
working

Work has continued to be undertaken to progress the 24/7 integrated
urgent care system as documented above. Work has now commenced
with the “alliance” as part of the Local Quality Scheme transformation
plans to look at 24/7 access within primary care.

Electronic
Prescribing

There are now 28 out of 30 GP practices across NHS South Cheshire
and NHS Vale Royal CCGs that have signed up to electronic
prescribing.

DOMAIN FIVE – TREATING AND CARING FOR PEOPLE IN A SAFE ENVIRONMENT
AND PROTECTING THEM FROM AVOIDABLE HARM
Although research suggests around 90% of patients admitted to hospital will not experience
an adverse incident, around 10% of patients will experience an adverse event, half of which
are considered avoidable. Older patients are disproportionately affected by patient safety
incidents causing severe harm or death. Over a million patient safety incidents are reported
to the National Reporting and Learning System each year, over 90% of which involved low
or no harm. However, we know this is an underestimate of the true burden of harm. NHS
South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG is committed to protecting people from
avoidable harm and ensuring care is provided in a safe environment.
Quality,
Nursing,
Safeguarding
and Patient

Work has continued to take place across the two CCGs to ensure the
patient is at the centre of all the work undertaken within the Quality and
Safeguarding team. This has included working with our local
stakeholders to gather patient, carer and staff experience data and
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Safety

evidence that impact the outcomes of our patients. Work continues to
improve systems and processes to assure quality in all commissioned
services and primary care to ensure standards and patient safety and
quality are met.

The Quality and
Performance
Committee

Ratified the NHS South Cheshire and NHS Vale Royal CCGs Quality
and Safeguarding Strategy and has supported the continued adoption
of the four facets of Quality, Care, Accessibility, Safety and
Effectiveness along with the 6C’s. Engagement events were
undertaken to ‘test out’ the understanding of the strategy.

Safeguarding

The National Safeguarding Audit Tool has been further developed by
the safeguarding designated nurses during 2014/15. The Quality and
Performance Committee has reviewed and approved quality measures
regarding safeguarding in all NHS Standard contracts. The Committee
has reviewed findings from national surveys relating to patient
experience together with patient stories stemming from local
engagement exercises with commissioned health care providers. In
line with the Care Act 2014 the CCG now has a statutory duty to
safeguard adults at risk, the statutory requirement for children has been
in place for a number of years, both now execute their statutory
requirements in partnership with other agencies locally. We are
members of both statutory Safeguarding Adult/Children Boards and
contribute to various working sub-groups to the boards that ensure
improvement in safeguarding activity continues. We have disseminated
the learning from a thematic review regarding suicide in young people
which was commissioned by the Local Safeguarding Children Board
and undertaken by an independent reviewer. We have contributed to
the resulting action plan.

1.6.

Membership Council impact in outcomes

The Membership Council has continued to help shape the priority areas for the CCG during
2014/15; to focus on the needs of our patients within our locality, based on the priority areas
of the CCG and the national health agendas and guidance. We have contributed active
debate and discussion to the ongoing development of our CCG; especially in light of national
changes such as the joint co-commissioning programme with NHS England, and the
development of GP Federations. We are looking forward to the challenges ahead that the
Five Year Forward View and C o-Commissioning presents. We are confident that, with our
partners, we can commission patient centred, high quality services for our patient population
that will improve health outcomes locally.

1.7.

Governing Body impact on outcomes

Our Governing Body, on behalf of the Membership Council, has ensured the CCG is well
managed and has met its statutory duties during this year. The Governing Body has a good
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working relationship with the Membership Council in order to shape the future vision for the
CCG.
Our Governing Body has crucially ensured the delivery of clinical leadership and involvement
which means that the patient remains at the heart of everything we do and t hat patient
services remain at a high quality. The Governing Body has received regular update reports
regarding the CCG’s financial performance during the course of the financial year.
Discussions have involved both clinicians and lay members who have provided constructive
challenge and debate in the continuous monitoring of the CCG’s financial position. There
have been oc casions throughout the year that have proved challenging however we have
worked through these issues and have delivered within budget.
Through scrutiny of quality and per formance data Governing Body have challenged
outcomes for the population of South Cheshire and V ale Royal in relation to mortality,
discharge, ambulance performance, stroke, and community services. Governing body lay
members and c linicians have worked jointly with CCG staff and providers to focus on the
patient journey, quality, experience and ou tcomes. Governing Body members have
championed the wider stakeholder voice across the CCG and Connecting Care Strategy
through support for development of a frontline staff, patient and c arer expert reference
group. In response to hearing ‘Patient and/or carer stories’ at Governing Body, members
have requested further information/evidence of changes to practice as a r esult of
patient/carer experience and linked into provider meetings and forums to review impact and
outcomes.
The Governing Body has jointly worked on the prioritisation of the 2015/16 commissioning
intentions alongside lead clinicians and senior managers of both organisations in January
2015. This brought significant challenge from the Governing Body members to decide on the
focus of work for the forthcoming year. Particular emphasis was placed on health inequalities
as well as the need to deliver the NHS Constitution and the Connecting Care partnership
priorities.
Governing Body has also supported the transfer of the Continuing Healthcare/Complex care
services to in- house management in February 2015 in order to improve the services across
five CCGS.

1.8.

Governing Body reporting review

The Governing Body has had a comprehensive programme of reviews on agreed priorities
throughout the year. This work has focused on specific areas and given challenge and
scrutiny to the Governing Body to improve the CCG standards of work.
The Governing Body has also had a good working relationship with both internal and
external auditors throughout the year as both attend the Governance and Audit Committee
on a regular basis. During 2014/15 Mersey Internal Audit Agency have reviewed the
Governing Body reporting structures and governance. The CCG has received significant
assurance following these reviews.
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2. Strategic Report
2.1.

A review of the CCG’s Business

The Clinical Commissioning Group was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted
in the Health & Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
The clinical commissioning group operated in shadow form prior to 1 April 2013, to allow for
the completion of the licencing process and the establishment of function, systems and
processes prior to the clinical commission group taking on its full powers.

2.1.1 Our Address and Contact Details
We lease our office building from NHS Property Services and our business address is:
Bevan House
Barony Court
Nantwich
Cheshire
CW5 5RD
Tel: 01270 275303 Fax: 01270 618392
Email: nhssouthcheshire.ccg@nhs.net

2.1.2 Our Health Landscape
As a C CG we recognise that we operate within a c ompetitive provider market. This is
consistent with, and s upported by, Monitor’s (the economic regulator for health provision)
recent publications. As a CCG we are mindful of the need to ensure that we adhere to the
principles and r ules. Consequently, within 2014/15 we have continued to develop plans to
extend patient choice. We have been actively utilising different techniques to fulfil Monitor’s
guidance/publications including, but not limited to, any qualified provider (within certain
specialities). We are, as a CCG, acutely aware of our commissioning responsibilities for our
patients and population, but also attentive to ensure that we deliver a sustainable financial
position and achieve value for money. The utilisation of any qualified provider to extend
patient choice effectively opens the market place to new entrants but also works on the
ethos of allowing innovation into health and care providers which we fully support. Our main
focus though remains one of driving towards improved integration of services and reducing
fragmentation.
We believe that the improved coordination of care across the entire patient pathway will
deliver the best clinical outcomes and del iver a s ustainable health and s ocial care local
environment. All NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups have a statutory duty to remain within
the resource that has been allocated to them from NHS England. This is referred to as
achieving operational financial balance. We have delivered all of our financial targets and
applied our resources effectively.
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For 2014/15 NHS South Cheshire CCG has reported a planned surplus of £1.02m against its
resource limit of £209.14 million; it is our understanding that £1.02m will be returned to the
CCG in the 2015/16 financial year. The planned surplus has resulted from the CCG
adopting a prudent approach to the financial risks in the system that have been caused
mainly by ongoing allocation adjustments throughout the year. There has been on going
pressure on the CCG provider services budgets during 2014/15.
As a public sector body the CCG is assumed to be a ‘going concern’ where the continuation
of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial
provision for that service in published documents.
Where a c linical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector entity)
in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial
Statements. If services will continue to be provided the Financial statements are prepared on
the going concern basis.

2.1.3 The Work of Our Programme Boards
In developing the objectives of our Programme Boards, established in June 2013, we have
worked with our partners on the Health and Wellbeing Board, our provider organisations and
the voluntary sector to consider the key challenges that together we need to address to
make a real difference to the health and wellbeing of our communities.
We have continued throughout 2014/15 to deliver our commissioning intentions via the three
programme boards:
•
•
•

Starting Well
Living Well
Ageing Well

These programmes deliver core business around performance, contract management, risk
management, quality improvement and assurance and financial probity. They also undertake
partnership commissioning alongside other CCGs, local authorities and NHS England. This
programme approach brings clarity to our work and projects and aligns with the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy.
As members of the Health and Wellbeing Board we have identified a s et of joint priorities
that we will address to make a r eal difference to the health and wellbeing of our
communities.

2.1.4 Financial Performance Duties
NHS South Cheshire CCG has achieved its financial performance duties for 2014/15,
namely:
To remain within Revenue Resource Limits



To remain within Cash Resource Limits



To remain within Capital Resource Limits



To remain within Administration Resource Limits
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Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the clinical commissioning group to aim to pay
all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is
later. The NHS aims to pay at least 95% of invoices within 30 da ys of receipt, or within
agreed contract terms. Details of compliance with the code are given in the notes to the
financial statements.

Prompt Payments
The CCG is signed up to the Prompt Payment Code. This initiative was devised by the
government with The Institute of Credit Management to tackle the crucial issue of late
payment and to help small businesses. Suppliers can have confidence in any company that
signs up to the code that they will be paid within clearly defined terms, and that there is a
proper process for dealing with any payments that are in dispute.

Financial Highlights
Our main financial highlights are as follows:
•
•
•

We have achieved the CCG financial duties
The total resource allocated in 2014/15 to NHS South Cheshire CCG was
£209.135m.
The CCG achieved a p lanned surplus of £1.020m (0.5% of CCG resource) with
expenditure of £208.115m. This will be returned to the CCG non-recurrently in
2015/16

The integration of our finance team to operate within our CCG management team has
enabled us to proactively provide financial scrutiny and assurance at a range of levels within
the CCG. O ur team work within Programme Boards and w ith our Clinical Commissioning
Executive to report effectively with our Governing Body. T his has led to more financial
control and autonomy to ensure that we deliver a balanced budget.

Capital Expenditure
The CCG had minimal capital expenditure of £66k during the year. It does not have any
significant capital plans for 2015/16.

Administrative Running Costs
Total administrative resource for the year were £4.664m, of which £4.240m is allocated to
fund running costs equivalent to £25 per head of population. For 2015/16 this resource has
been reduced to £3.8m. D uring the financial year we have, in conjunction with 4 ot her
CCGs, established a shared Continuing Healthcare and Support Service. This service has
been retracted from Cheshire and Merseyside Commissioning Support Unit.
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Property costs
The CCG has had to contribute to the national shortfall relating to NHS Property Services.
The excess cost over budget in total is £0.59 million.

Cash Flow
The CCG has managed its cash effectively over the year, not spending more than its
resource allocation. At the end of the year, a balance of £22k was carried forward, within the
stipulated allowance of £212k.

The next 5 years
During 2015/16 will be developing a ne w collaborative contracting approach between our
main acute, community, primary care and mental health providers using either alliance or
lead contractor models. The model to be developed will use the approach of a joint resource
to drive innovation and fund collaborative working across the health economy.

Key Financial Priorities for 2015/16 to 2019/20
As a CCG we have a number of statutory financial and national requirements the key items
are identified below:-

•

To maintain a balanced position and deliver the 1% surplus as required by the NHS
England;

•

To deliver our Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention targets whilst ensuring
that we are delivering improved care to patients;

•

To invest the commissioning budget to maximise value for money;

•

To ensure the financial resources are applied to support the CCG commissioning
Strategy;

•

To utilise the Better Care Fund in 2015/16 locally on health and care to drive closer
integration and improve outcomes for patients and service users and carers;

Key Financial Risks facing the CCG
The key financial risks that the CCG has faced during the year are detailed in the corporate
risk register and are monitored on a regular basis via the Governance and Audit Committee.
The risks are also updated on a regular basis and the following are the key risks identified by
the CCG in the forthcoming year:

•

Increased pressures in Elective and Non-Elective Care, Continuing Healthcare,
Funded Nursing Care and Learning Disabilities services;
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•

A reduction of 10% in Administration Resource limit.

•

Risk around Continuing Healthcare assessments (including complex case claims
relating to Learning Disabilities);

•

Stranded costs relating to services withdrawn from the CSU;

•

Ensuring the drive to closer integration can be achieved within existing allocations
and change recognised through provider contracts;

•

Ensuring the financial risks associated with the introduction of Personal Health
Budgets are managed, particularly in respect of safeguarding;

•

Achievement of the Quality Premium;

•

Operation of the s75 agreement for the Better Care Fund and the transfer of £10.48m
of CCG resource to fund the associated schemes.

2.2.

Discharging our duties

Our Constitution states that, as a Membership Council, we delegate authority to the
Governing Body to effectively and efficiently run the CCG on our behalf. During 2014/15 we
reviewed and amended our CCG Constitution, including the Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation and agreed to delegate responsibility for the production and approval of the CCG
Annual Report and Accounts to the Governing Body.
The CCG made an application to NHS England (1st December 2014) to amend its
Constitution and received notification (On 14th April 2015) that the proposed changes to the
Constitution of NHS South Cheshire CCG complied with the particular requirements of the
National Health Service Act 2006 as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and
is otherwise appropriate.
Our organisational structure can be found in appendix one. This illustrates our Membership
Council and G overning Body, together with its Committees and S ub Committees and
therefore the lines of reporting and communication.

2.2.1 Quality and Safeguarding at the heart of everything we do
Quality is at the centre of everything we do. In 2014/15 NHS South Cheshire CCG has
ensured that quality of care is our focus and p riority. O ur clinicians lead the quality and
safety agenda across the CCG and work collaboratively to deliver the mechanisms to
improve, monitor and assure quality and patient safety in our healthcare providers.
As a C CG, we exercise functions with a v iew to securing continuous improvement in the
quality of services provided to individuals for, or in connection with, the prevention, diagnosis
or treatment of illness. As a C CG we also act with a view to securing continuous
improvement in the outcomes that are achieved and, in particular, outcomes which show the
effectiveness of their services, the safety of the services provided, and t he quality of the
experience of the patient.
In discharging this duty, we regularly publish Quality and P erformance Reports at our
Governing Body meetings (Section 14R NHS Act 2006).
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In order to ensure the CCG makes commissioning decisions based on quality we have
developed the following four facets of quality, we refer to these as “CASE”. These were
developed with members of the public via engagement activities:
Care - the patient experience must be For example, ensuring 100% roll-out of
positive. Patients should be treated as the Friends and Family test and improving
individuals with dignity and respect.
patient experience of hospital services.

Accessibility - Patients must be able to For example, heightened awareness of
easily access services. Services must equality and di versity in NHS standard
be designed to meet the different needs contracts
of communities and individuals.
Safety - it is vital that we protect our For example, we undertake Methicillinpatients and staff by managing all risks Resistant
Staphylococcus
Aureus
effectively.
(MRSA) post infection reviews in order to
reduce healthcare associated infection
rates.

Effectiveness - it is important that the
way we manage services results in a
more positive experience for patients.
We also need to make sure that
services are cost-effective.

For example, following review of stroke
services, a gap in community services has
been identified. This has led to the
development of a new community
specialist rehabilitation team which was
implemented in 2014.

As commissioners our prime responsibility is to protect children and adults at risk, operating
in accordance with statutory guidance, taking account of our responsibility to assure
ourselves that the organisations that we commission local health services from have
effective safeguards in place and provide the highest possible standards of care.
The NHS Constitution sets out the legal rights of patients with regard to quality of care and
the environment. To ensure that we do t his we have established an i nternal committee
known as the Quality and Performance Committee that seeks assurance on t he quality
and safety of services commissioned. The committee receives reports giving information
about the quality and performance of services including safeguarding of all our health care
providers. The Incidents and Complaints group is a subcommittee of the Quality and
Performance Committee, this is where the CCG discuss all incidents from our providers in
detail and ensures that there are mechanisms in place to guarantee that lessons learnt have
been implemented and acted upon. Monitoring incidents, claims, concerns and complaints
trends from commissioned services to ensure corrective and preventative action is being
taken. E nsuring lessons are learnt from patient experience intelligence and s erious
untoward incidents.
NHS South Cheshire CCGs constitution is in place to help the CCG meet their
responsibilities, to discharge all of the legal obligations and t o engage with members,
patients, the public and other key partners and partners to achieve this.
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It describes the group’s governing principles, the rules and procedures that are established
to ensure probity and ac countability, to ensure that decisions are taken in an open and
transparent way and that patients’ and public interest always remain central to goals.

How do we monitor Quality?
As a CCG we take responsibility for quality assurance by holding providers to account for
delivery of contractual obligations and q uality standards. We also take responsibility for
working closely with providers to ensure service delivery continually improves and there are
processes in place to drive this continual improvement including the adoption and sharing of
innovation. We plan to work with carers, patients, service users and other interested parties
to engage them in monitoring quality. These ‘Quality checkers’ will be in a position to bring
fresh eyes to site visits as well as reviewing and commenting on tools in development.

Expert Reference Group
Empowering patients, public and staff across the commissioning and provider cycle is
essential to co-production. There was no mechanism in place for the Connecting Care
Board and Provider Board to access patients, public and staff, and therefore during 2014, an
Expert Reference Group was developed to provide patient views and experience.
The purpose of the Expert Reference Group is to provide advice and assistance to the
process at which ever point in the cycle; expert clinical and operational views and
experiences from patient/public and staff perspectives, share best practice and evidence, and
identify potential gaps and opportunities relating to models of care delivery developed and
innovative ways of working/pathway development.
The main objectives of the Expert Reference Group are to:
•

Come together as a resource to the Connecting Care Board, provider Board and
Operational Groups

•

Ensure a robust mechanism in place for patients/public and frontline staff to ‘test
out’ developed models of working and contribute to the development of
innovative ways of working/pathways

•

Develop the specification framework for main changes to approaches

•

Develop outcomes for contracts and quality measures

•

Identify any gaps and opportunities to consider within the development and
implementation of new models

•

Make recommendations to Connecting Care Board across the commissioning
and provider cycle relating to any gaps or opportunities within development and
implementation of new models

•

Capture the experience and evidence of patients/public and frontline staff working
within health and social care
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Reducing avoidable harm and improving safety
Patient safety is the number one priority for the services that are commissioned. The CCG
supports relevant national patient safety initiatives and m onitors how our providers
implement these.

Quality review meetings
These are held with our acute, community, mental health and independent providers. These
meetings are formal contract meetings that focus on quality and pat ient safety. Clinical
presentations from our providers are an i ntegral part of the meetings. A programme of
presentations have taken place which have been formally agreed with our main provider and
links into performance against targets and Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
(CQUINS). This has allowed us to focus on quality and patient safety in individual services,
recognising good practice and i dentifying areas for improvement. Quality review meetings
provide a robust process for commissioners and providers to work together to meet national
and local standards and ultimately improve the patient experience

Care Homes
Collaborative working: Local Authorities
This year there has been a move towards greater collaboration in working with the Quality
Assurance teams in Cheshire East Council (CEC) and Cheshire West and Chester Council
(CWaC).
There is representation from the quality team of the CCG in both Operational and Q uality
Assurance and Governance groups. These groups provide a process for prioritising Quality
Assurance reviews, agreeing individual action plans for Nursing Care homes. The goal is to
improve quality care, outcomes, and to monitor homes that require improvements whilst also
providing support and guidance.
Improvements that are identified in nursing homes are agreed jointly with the Nursing Home,
CEC and CCG in line with the contract with the providers. Targets and action plans are set
as required and ongoing monitoring is undertaken.
There was a joint Health and Local Authority event held in November 2014 with a wide range
of Health and Social care representatives attending. The event resulted in a number of work
streams being developed which are now all under way. These include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Review of the Contract and Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s)
Review of Quality Assurance toolkit used in QA Care home reviews- this work is
being led by the CCG Quality representative and is being underpinned by the 6C’s.
Review of the Safeguarding process in line with Health and Social Care Act.
Defining Minimum Standards for Care Homes.
Establishing a care home quality collaborative.
Reviewing the joint approach to home closure policy

There is representation from the CCG on eac h of these working groups with agreed joint
outcomes for all work being progressed. The CEC Care home forum is now attended by
representatives from CCG providing an oppor tunity for Health to inform and updat e
providers.
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Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)
The CCG has used the CQUIN schemes to incentivise improvements working with our
providers. CQUIN schemes are a payment framework in the NHS contract which places a
proportion of healthcare providers’ income on i mproving quality and u sing innovation to
enhance patient outcomes and experience in specified areas of care.
Following the CQUIN schemes 2013/14 around patient and s taff experience a num ber of
initiatives have been t aken forward in 2014/15. These include specifically listening to
patients within the Head and Neck Cancer Services around outpatients– clearer information
on display boards, patient waiting areas reconfigured i.e. seating areas which has aided the
hearing and sight impaired patients in particular who are now facing the direction from which
the staff call them through to clinic, televisions in place in waiting areas.
During 2014/15 the success of the above patient experience outcomes has led to a
continuing focus on patient experience. We engaged with our main provider and agreed to
focus on a further 4 areas in order to gain valuable feedback from our patients. These 4
areas were: Adult general outpatients, Urology patients, Triage service for pregnant women
and Paediatric outpatient facilities. T he final outcomes will be r eported through the CCG
Clinical Quality and Patient Safety Review meetings.

Safe Staffing
The relationship between safe staff and safe care and the quality of the patient experience is
a key factor in the Francis and Berwick Reports and the Keogh Review. From July 2014,
providers have been required to provide monthly reports for inpatients in acute hospitals and
from February 2015 M aternity services on s taffing levels. These measures are brought
together with safety metrics to identify any impact on patient care and experience.
The CCG has access to provider reports containing benchmarking data and have been able
to evidence that staffing levels are a Trust Board priority from the Board reports, which are
submitted to commissioners. Other sources of soft intelligence and assurance visits have
been used to triangulate the workforce status of the organisation and to report to the CCG
Quality and Performance Committee and Governing Body.

Quality and Performance Committee
The CCG holds a Quality and Performance Committee on a monthly basis. The purpose of
the Committee is to oversee quality, performance, effectiveness of clinical services, patient
safety and patient experience. The Committee ensures commissioned services are of good
quality, deliver safe effective care and are performing within national and local targets by:
•
•
•

Establishing systems to ensure information and evidence from national and
local data sources are used to assess the quality, performance and p atient
safety of commissioned healthcare services
Ensuring that when decisions are made about safety, quality of care and the
performance of providers, that the outcomes for patients are clearly established
and recorded
Use data from patient experience to help monitor and evaluate safety, quality
and performance of provider services
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•

The Committee has reviewed reports such as:- the NHS constitution
performance report and has been g iven assurance around a nu mber of
performance measures and w here appropriate invited Service Delivery
Managers responsible for commissioning services to attend the committee to
detail any actions. The committee has received update reports from Medicines
Management, Continuing Healthcare and Safeguarding.

During 2014/15 an audit of quality governance, assurance processes, and CCG responses
to the key quality reports was undertaken by Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA). The audit
scrutinised the Quality assurance framework and underpinning operational processes. The
audit identified significant assurance. In 2014 the Quality and P erformance Committee
extended its membership to include representation from the two local Health Watch
organisations. Membership from Healthwatch has provided an addi tional level of local
population data relating to outcomes and experience which the committee has been able to
use to triangulate as part of quality monitoring and continual improvement.

Incidents and Complaints Group
The Incidents and C omplaints group is a subcommittee of the Quality and P erformance
Committee. T his is where the CCG discuss all incidents from our providers in detail and
ensures that there are mechanisms in place to guarantee that lessons learnt have been
implemented and acted upon. Analysing and r eviewing data, actions plans and l essons
learnt allows us to triangulate the data and identify trends that may be missed if we relied on
just the one source. This process now includes regular attendance by providers at the
meeting to present evidence in order to close incidents –this practice has worked well for all
concerned and any queries/concerns are dealt with face to face.

Quality Surveillance Group (QSG)
NHS South Cheshire CCG is an ac tive participant in our local QSG. These have been
established across the country to systematically bring together the different parts of the
system to share information. They are a f orum for collaboration, providing the health
economy with:
•
•
•

A shared view of risks to quality through sharing intelligence;
An early warning mechanism of risk about poor quality; and
Opportunities to coordinate actions to drive improvement, respecting statutory
responsibilities of, and on-going operational liaison between, organisations.

How do we get direct patient feedback on Healthcare Services?
Direct patient feedback through:
a. Complaints – the CCG has received trend and themed information from providers on the
types of complaints that they are receiving and s eeks assurance around the
management, outcomes and learning from these complaints. The team also receives
information about complaints received by the CCGs about locally commissioned
services.
b. National Surveys – The NHS patient survey programme systematically gathers the views
of patients about the care they have recently received in a variety of areas including
Inpatient admissions, cancer care, community mental health teams, maternity and
Accident and E mergency. The CCG have reviewed and identified trends in patients
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experience across surveys and hav e also looked at improvement and deterioration in
areas of patients experience for individual provider’s year on year.
c. Local Surveys – All providers have undertaken locally agreed patient experience surveys
and have shared the details with the CCG and have been reviewed and trends identified.
d. Patient Stories – have been collated and ha ve been pr esented at the CCG Clinical
Quality and P atient Safety Review meetings monthly. P atient stories have also been
received by the Governing Body.
e. Quality Visits – The CCG have undertaken several quality visits during 2014/15 to seek
real time views of patients and their carers about their experience. Staff experience has
also been captured during these visits.
f. Friends and Family Test (FFT) - is a national feedback tool that supports the
fundamental principle that people who use NHS services should have the opportunity to
provide feedback on their experience. It provides a m echanism to highlight both good
and poor patient experience. It comprises a single question survey which asks patients
whether they would recommend the NHS service they have received to friends and
family who need s imilar treatment or care. The CCG quality team triangulate FFT
information (which is available at ward/clinical area level) with other patient experience
information (to build a ‘picture’ of how individual areas within a trust are performing. The
FFT was introduced into GP practices from 1 December 2014, mental health services,
community health services from the 1 J anuary 2015 and will be i ntroduced to the
remainder of acute care (outpatient and day case departments), ambulance services

Sign up to Safety
The review into Mid Staffordshire NHS Trust (Francis Report) recognised the importance of
openness and candour. To further embed this principle NHS SC CCG have signed up to the
‘Sign up t o Safety Campaign’. The pledges have been publ ished on the organisations
website for staff, patients and t he public to see. In signing up N HS South Cheshire CCG
have committed to strengthening patient safety by:
•

Describing the actions that will be undertaken in response to the five campaign
pledges

•

Make public the pledges, engaging with the patients and public

•

Update the website regularly on progress against them

The Pledges were developed reflecting on NHS South Cheshire CCG Quality and
Safeguarding strategy. Also, the Chief Nursing Officer for England’s Nursing Strategy
incorporating Compassion in Practice which includes the 6C’s (care, compassion,
commitment, competency, courage and c ommunication) as a framework for the CCGs
commitment to the campaign. Learning points which were raised at the recent engagement
events with members of the general public, providers, and voluntary organisations have
been utilised to demonstrate that the views of patients and public have been listened to and
acted upon in the pledges made.
Pledges that have been made on behalf of NHS South Cheshire CCG are a balance
between actions that will be undertaken within the organisation and those actions that rely
on the interaction and engagement with patients, carers, providers and other stakeholders.
A number of pledges have been m ade on behal f of NHS South Cheshire CCG under the
following campaign headings:
1.

Put safety first. Commit to reduce avoidable harm in the NHS by half and
make public the goals and plans developed locally.
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2.

Continually learn. Make their organisations more resilient to risks, by
acting on the feedback from patients and by constantly measuring and
monitoring how safe their services are.

3.

Honesty. Be transparent with people about their progress to tackle patient
safety issues and support staff to be candid with patients and their families if
something goes wrong.

4.

Collaborate. Take a leading role in supporting local collaborative learning,
so that improvements are made across all of the local services that patients
use.

5.

Support. Help people understand why things go wrong and how to put them
right. Give staff the time and support to improve and celebrate the progress.

2.2.2 Quality and Safeguarding
This year we have worked hard to further develop our Quality and Safeguarding Strategy.
The strategy sets out our approach to continually driving up quality and embedding quality
and safeguarding as part of the culture; with each staff member, patient/carer and
stakeholder being clear about what ‘good’ looks like. A number of stakeholder events have
taken place during summer 2014 with the aim to have a s hared understanding of ‘what
excellent looks like’, what the strategy means to stakeholders; identifying opportunities to
work together and check out our approach to quality and safeguarding.
There was an agreement from the 3 ev ents that ‘good or excellent’ means keeping the
person at the centre of all that we do, working together with the person and those important
to them, always trying to understand what each person’s experience is, achieving ‘good or
excellent’ is about how the experience feels. The quality and s afeguarding strategy was
supported and opportunities identified to work together.
Attendees also reviewed the National Nursing and Care strategy ‘Compassion in Practice 6
Cs’: Care, Compassion, Communication, Courage, Competence and Commitment.
Attendees identified what each ‘C’ means to them and again generated ideas about how to
embed these into ways of working to champion excellent practice and challenge poor
practice. There was support for the 6 Cs as core underpinning values for all stakeholders.
Attendees also felt that there should be a 7th C of Culture. .The feedback relating to the 6 Cs
+1 have been us ed to further develop a dr aft quality monitoring framework known as the
‘Compassion Tool’ which has been j ointly developed with Mid-Cheshire Hospitals
Foundation Trust to use when carrying out quality visits. During the past 3 month the draft 6
Cs +1 quality framework has been piloted our main acute provider and will be further
developed and rolled out across all providers.
2014/15 has seen some significant changes in Adult Safeguarding. The Mental Capacity Act
(MCA) and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) was showcased during the Cheshire
West Case and the Supreme Court Ruling, identifying new specific measures that have
changed the way health colleagues raise standard authorisations for patients in their care.
Funding was sourced from NHS England to support a seminar on MCA/DoLS in March 2015
in order to address some of the questions, concerns and di spel some of the myths. The
seminar hosted key note speakers who illustrated national figures and good practice that is
being shared with all professionals. Over 120 delegates attended from health, social care,
private sector, police and probation. The day generated lots of questions but also provided
professionals with a positive forum to air their concerns.
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For the Cheshire East footprint the Safeguarding Adult Board [SAB] has also undertaken a
redesign to meet the requirements of the Care Act 2014. The Care Act now places Adult
Safeguarding on a statutory footing, and the key statutory partners include Social Care,
Health and Police. Select statutory partners within the SAB have worked together as a
Business Management Group [BMG] to drive the main work of the board. Over the last ten
months the BMG have completely refurbished the constitution of the SAB to embed Making
Safeguarding Personal and The Care Act, the final draft of the constitution went to public
consultation, and was approved for the inaugural SAB in April 2015.
The revised constitution highlights key core business for the SAB and now includes modern
slavery and self-neglect, SAB has also made clear in the constitution the importance of close
links with other boards (examples include: Health and Wellbeing Board, Safer Cheshire East
Partnerships and t he Children’s Board) to address the cross cutting issues such as child
sexual exploitation and domestic violence. The SAB have agreed on 7 key sub-group’s that
link with the key priority areas of the SAB, all of the sub-groups have statutory membership
and the designated nurse is chair of one of the groups.
Work within the CCG has enabled the SAB to agree a multi-agency information sharing
protocol; this robust protocol enables all professionals to share the appropriate information
regarding Adults at Risk without the concerns of information governance, as the protocol has
incorporated all the legal caveats that can at times slow down the information sharing
process.
Over the last year the designated nurse has assisted in two Domestic Homicide Reviews
[DHR] within South Cheshire the learning has been far reaching not just for health
colleagues but also for carers, GP’s, police, fire and probation. Local bespoke training has
also been revised to incorporate the learning from both cases.
With the staged implementation of the Care Act 2014 Local Authority remain the lead in
Safeguarding, and with this there has been a change in the reporting of Adult Safeguarding
concerns, the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub [MASH] has been relocated to the Skilled
Multi-Agency Resource Teams [SMART] all Adult safeguarding information starts at any of
the four locality points within the footprint, for initial investigation. Information/intelligence is
then shared [where appropriate] to the Local Authority Governance teams where decisions
are made where appropriate to implement Large Scale Investigations under safeguarding.
The core business of the Designated Nurses within the CCG has continued with quarterly
Safeguarding Assurance Meetings, the meetings provide assurance to sub-committees of
the NHS Clinical Commissioning Groups on actions to safeguard children and adul ts.
Providing a s tructure for reporting, management of risk and reviewing performance. The
meetings are held with our three main providers East Cheshire Trust, Mid Cheshire Hospital
Foundation Trust and Cheshire and Wirral Partnership.
The overall outcome is to provide assurance to the Governing Body sub-committees that
policy assurance includes specific safeguarding policies and standards to support effective
service delivery and commissioning. Robust processes, procedures, and services are in
place to safeguard children and adul ts and ensure compliance with Care Quality
Commissioning Standards. This also includes multi-agency partnership working with the
Local Safeguarding Children and Adult Boards.
The monitoring includes review of the Safeguarding Assurance Dashboards for both
Children and Adult’s. The progress of safeguarding action plans including CQC action plans,
Serious Case Review action plans and ac tion plans deriving from multi-agency practice
learning reviews.
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The CCG is responsible for promoting safeguarding quality and quality assurance in the
services it commissions. This is achieved through the contractual arrangements with our
service providers.
The approach of the CCG is to ensure services commissioned embed safeguarding
standards in practice, with where appropriate the standard contract and/or the
commissioning standards document.
Contracts include safeguarding standards in respect of both children and adults at risk. The
Commissioned Services Standards for Safeguarding Children and Adults at Risk document
includes section 11 responsibilities of The Children Act 1989, The Care Act 2014 and the six
adult safeguarding principals linked to the 6C’s of Compassionate Care. The standards
include an escalation process and this is used when standards are not progressing.
The safeguarding annual self-assessment audit tools are reviewed and completed annually.
The evidence provided is quality assured and the feedback from the CCG to providers taken
through the Safeguarding Assurance Group. Any exceptions are reported to the Quality and
Performance Committee.
The Quality and Performance Committee receive quarterly safeguarding children and adul t
update and risk reports. The reports include key points of the Local Safeguarding Children
and Adult Boards work. The Governing Body receives an annual update in relation to
safeguarding children and adults.
NHS England hosts a Quality Surveillance Group for Cheshire, Warrington and Wirral Area
Team which is regularly attended by the CCG. The group share any concerns with the
quality and safeguarding assurance of providers within the North West.
Leadership and responsibility for safeguarding at Governing Body level is achieved through
the Executive Nurse for Safeguarding and Quality. This lead role provides the CCG
representation on both the Local Safeguarding Children Board and Local Safeguarding Adult
Board.
Clinical expertise in the CCG is provided through the Designated Nurse for Safeguarding
Children, the Designated Nurse and Doctor for Children in Care, the Designated Doctor for
Safeguarding Children and t he Designated Nurse for Safeguarding Adults at Risk. These
professionals are directly accountable to the Executive Nurse. The Designated Nurses have
direct access to the Chief Officer. In addition, there is a D esignated Paediatrician for
unexpected deaths in childhood and a Child Death Overview Panel Specialist Nurse.
As clinical experts and strategic leaders, the designated professionals provide a vital source
of advice to the CCG, NHS England, the Local Authority, Local Safeguarding Children
Board, the Child Death Overview Panel and Safeguarding Adult Board. They also provide
advice and support for health professionals in provider organisations and i ndependent
contractors.
The professionals provide advice to the organisations in the health economy in relation to
planning, strategy and commissioning, including advising on per formance indicators and
quality measures specific to safeguarding.
In respect of safeguarding Children, the CCG has further contributed to the work of the multiagency improvement board and to the Local Safeguarding Children Board and all of its sub
groups. This has included the work of Child Death Overview Panel, the multi-agency case
audit process, and engagement with the early help process, Practice Learning Reviews and
development of the Child Sexual Exploitation Integrated Team. The CCG is jointly
alongside Eastern Cheshire CCG having agreed to commission a specialist health worker to
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work as part of this integrated team. This work has been led by the Governing Body
Executive Safeguarding Leads and the Designated Professionals.
The CCG has been involved in a number of audits. It has recently completed and submitted
a Cheshire East LCSB Section 11 audit with an accompanying clear action plan.
The CCG has carried out audits to identify whether staff know what to do and who to contact
if they have a safeguarding concern for either an Adult or Child. Results indicated that
ninety percent of staff knew what to do and who to contact. The only area of staff knowledge
which was identified as being poor in the context of the audit was in respect of Allegations
against professionals. In response a one minute guide was developed and distributed to all
staff.
Although the CCG is a commissioning organisation, the Designated Nurse for Safeguarding
has co-ordinated the health contribution, including GP Practices, to the LSCB multi-agency
case audits. I t is expected that GP Practice involvement in future audits will be f urther
enhanced by the newly appointed Name GP for safeguarding.
The newly appointed Named GP for Safeguarding has reviewed current safeguarding
children training for GPs and GP Registrars and planned a series of training sessions for the
coming year.
The CCGs have contributed to the Independent Thematic Review in respect of a number of
young people who have taken their own lives. They have assimilated the learning and are
working with partner agencies to meet the goals of the action plan especially in respect of
the commissioning of mental health services for young people.
In response to information from the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) regarding a
number of child deaths associated with unsafe sleep the Specialist CDOP nurse was
supported by the CCG and Public Health to review safe sleep literature and to provide two
multi-agency training sessions for safe sleep “champions” given by the Lullaby Trust.
The CCG is contributing to the joint commissioning of the independent Domestic Violence
Advocate post at Mid Cheshire Hospital Foundation Trust. This post is already making a
difference to families living with domestic violence who are identified by hospital staff.
The CCG has worked alongside Vale Royal CCG to introduce the IRIS project to GP
surgeries. This project allows GP Practices access to a dedicated professional providing
support for patients experiencing domestic abuse (DA) as well as whole surgery training in
Domestic Abuse.
The CCG has commissioned additional doctors and nurses and administration support in the
Cared for Children Team, in order to ensure that there is capacity to assess and meet the
health needs of this group of vulnerable children but are in the process of reviewing the
Designated Nurse for LAC capacity following new national guidance. The Designated Nurse
has been supported by the CCG to lead on a Cared for Children’s participation day which
combined fun activities with finding out children’s views on their health and the health
services they access.

Safeguarding and Assurance meeting
The Safeguarding and Assurance meeting provide assurance all health providers from
whom it commissions services (both public and independent sector) have comprehensive
single and m ulti-agency policies and pr ocedures in place to safeguard and pr omote the
welfare of children and to protect adults at risk from abuse or the risk of abuse. The acute
and community providers are expected to be an active partner on the Local Safeguarding
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Children Safeguarding Adult Boards and that health workers contribute to multi-agency
working.
Consideration is given to the evolving NHS landscape and where safeguarding roles and
functions may sit in the future. In particular, the requirement set out in Safeguarding
Vulnerable People in the Reformed NHS Accountability and A ssurance Framework (NHS
Commissioning Board, 2013)
The organisation reviews annually the Commissioned Services Standards for Safeguarding
Children and Adults at Risk. This document provides clear service standards against which
healthcare providers are monitored to ensure that all service users are protected from abuse
and the risk of abuse.
Leadership within the CCG is values based leadership at all levels which brings people
together to deliver a common purpose. Our Governing Body, as guardians of the system,
embeds resilience and s ustainability for the outcomes of our communities. E nsuring our
statutory responsibilities is embedded within everyday business of the organisation.

2.2.3 Reducing Health Inequalities
Around 10.7% of our population across South Cheshire live in small areas (LSOAs) that are
among the 20% most deprived areas in England. A further 15.6% live in the next most
deprived fifth of areas in England. The map colours individual postcodes to illustrate
geographical variations in deprivation. The areas of solid colour represent the towns, while
areas with white spacing represent rural villages and rural communities. It shows that:
•
•
•
•

Large parts of Crewe town are very deprived
Each of the four other main towns contain some deprived areas
All of the five main towns have a mix of affluent areas as well as deprived areas
There is rural deprivation to the west and north of Nantwich, and from Sandbach
to Alsager

Middlewich
Sandbach

Alsager
Crewe
Nantwich
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Our work at the CCG ultimately aims to reduce health inequalities within our communities.
The Annual Public Health Report 2014 has highlighted the stark difference between living
within a depr ived or affluent area. Evidence suggests that living in deprivation leads to
premature death, with a twofold difference in death rates between the most deprived and
least deprived areas in South Cheshire. The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment shows that
there are similar differences in the incidence and prevalence of many acute and chronic
diseases, and also in many of the lifestyle factors that are known to cause disease in both
children and adults.

2.2.4 Promoting Education and Training
As part of our continued professional development Protected Learning Time (PLTs) events
are held throughout the year for every GP and N urse member. Throughout 2014/15 the
following clinical topics have been the focus of each PLT:
•

•

•

March 2015 – This event focused on supporting Carers and we had speakers from
Cheshire Carers, Wishing Well and the Expert Patient Programme. There was also a
presentation on the Integrated Care Teams being developed in Central Cheshire and
Infection Control Statutory and Mandatory Training.
September 2014 – This event focused on Revalidation and Registration requirements
for Practice Nurses in the future, a presentation from Social Services about how to
access appropriate services for patients and a presentation from Pathways CIC
about their community work supporting BME patients.
May 2014 – The event included presentations relating to Dementia Awareness, Third
Sector Support including IRIS, and C heshire East Council Be Safe Be Steady
Programme, Age UK and Cheshire Centre for Independent Living

As a clinically led organisation we are keen to empower a strong nursing voice, particularly
from practices nurses who have well developed relationships with patients and take a bi g
role in supporting patients to manage their own health needs and have valuable knowledge
and skills relating to impact for and approaches with patients.
Practice nurses across South Cheshire want to ensure consistently high quality care for all
patients, delivering on al l of the 6C's of the nursing strategy. Therefore a P ractice Nurse
Membership Council was established in 2014/15, providing the opportunity for a consistent
approach to achieve quality and s haring best practice within practice nursing and al so to
influence nursing developments and approaches within the South Cheshire area.
Achievements of work undertaken through our Practice Nurses during 2014/15 are
presented below:
•

•

•

The formation of the Practice Nurse Membership Council was included in the
Chief Nursing Officer 6Cs ‘One Year On’ Report at the end of 2013. This was
followed with an interview for the NHS ‘Putting Patients First’ film in June 2014
which supported the NHS Business Strategy Plan
Working collaboratively with the CCG Practice Engagement Managers (PEMs),
joint Nurse Education Sessions for Practice Nurses were delivered to incorporate
mandatory training along with building links and raising awareness of third sector
organisations
There has been increased activity and engagement between practice nurses and
Patient Panel Groups (PPGs) with nurses encouraged to attend their own PPG
meetings Patients encouraged to support the flu campaign within their own
surgery and t he Quality Lead P ractice Nurse attended the Joint PPG Annual
Meeting for the CCG

41

•

•
•
•

•
•
•

2.3.

A second group of Pre -registration Nursing Students have just completed their
10 week placement in primary care. Within South Cheshire there are currently 10
mentors, with three trained to masters level to enable them to take second and
third year nursing students
One practice was successful in their workforce modernisation bid to fund a HCA
through assistant practitioner training
Several nurses joined forces with teams from the CCG at the Nantwich Show to
promote healthy living
The Practice Nurse Council developed the Vulnerable and Isolated Patient (VIP)
Register through the local CQUINN scheme. This new model of care enabled
nurses to remotely assess the physical, mental and s ocial well-being of an
identified vulnerable cohort of patients.
The Practice Nurse Quality Lead was invited to an ev ening reception with the
Prime Minister at 10 Downing Street to celebrate the work of Nurses in Oct 2014
Practice Nurses from the Nurses Council attended the ‘Northwest Conference
Out of Hospital Care’ in November 2014 t o discuss the future of primary care
nursing and the Five Year Forward Plan
The formation of the expert reference group which aims to support the connecting
care board with representation from primary, community and s econdary care
nurses, AHPs, mental health and social care sectors

Legislative requirements

2.3.1. CCG Assurance Framework
The CCG Assurance Framework has been established to ensure that CCGs are continuing
to meet the on-going responsibilities to patients and the public. The framework sets out how
quarterly checkpoints contribute to an annual assessment focused on broader measures of
organisational health.
Over the past year we have achieved assurance (‘with support’ for Domain 3) at each of our
Checkpoint visits from the NHS England Area Team under the 6 Domains illustrated below.
We have also highlighted an example of good practice from the last year to demonstrate our
achievements:

NHS SOUTH CHESHIRE CCG

Focus

Particular achievements noted/examples of good practice

Are patients
receiving
clinically
commissioned,
high quality
services?

The CCG Commissioning Intentions for 2015 are being reviewed,
shaped and agreed by clinicians, through the Membership Council and
the Clinical Commissioning Executive.
Each of our Programme Team (Starting Well, Living Well, and Ageing
Well) has clinical representation. Our clinicians are involved in a wide
range of projects including urgent and pl anned care, Primary Care
Quality, and health inequalities.
The CCG sit on the local Quality Surveillance Group (which also
includes Local Authority/Care Quality Commission/Patient Advice &
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Liaison and the local Healthwatch).
The CCGs have also undertaken quality visits to our main providers ie
MCHFT ward visits/ ECT district nursing visits/quality review of district
nursing through GP questionnaire in Aug/Sep to check on q uality of
services
The CCG has reviewed the 360° Stakeholder Survey, which was
completed at the end of 2013-14 and developed an action plan in
response (see below*).
Are patients and
the public
actively engaged
and involved?

In quarter 2 t here was extensive engagement activity across South
Cheshire
•
•
•
•

The extensive summer roadshow activity which has taken place,
reaching a diverse range of our local geography;
the hosting of the first patient conference, Making a Difference,
in Cheshire;
the development and eventual appointment of 15 Young
Advisors in Cheshire East (75% of those appointed live in the
South Cheshire geography); and
launch of the formal membership scheme, ‘Connected’, to
enhance involvement.

Patient stories – the strong focus on collecting Patient Stories has
continued, with the resulting films being shown at the Quality and
Safeguarding Board at Mid-Cheshire Hospitals Foundation Trust. There
has been recognition from our partners that the creation of these filmed
patient stories brings a g reater level of understanding about what
happens from a patient’s perspective.
Stakeholder engagement and Young Advisors – it is most encouraging
that the emphasis on mutually supportive working relationships
continues with many of our Stakeholders, in particular with Cheshire
and Wirral Partnership Trust, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and
Cheshire East Council. One of the most outstanding and notable pieces
of work with our stakeholders is the development and employment of 15
Young Advisors across the Cheshire East Partnership. The work is
being led by The Children’s Society on behalf of Cheshire East Council.
The ongoing developments of this work have seen NHS South Cheshire
CCG commissioning the Young Advisors to present at our recent
Making a Difference Patient Involvement Conference, which was hugely
appreciated by the audience present. Further developments during
November 2014 saw NHS South Cheshire CCG supporting Children’s
Rights Month, which will incorporate Children’s Takeover Day.
Membership Scheme – The ‘Connected’ membership formally launched
to coincide with the Making a D ifference Patient involvement
Conference on 18th September 2014. ‘Connected’ brings together all
aspects of public and pat ient involvement in South Cheshire, allowing
for consistency and a professional image. The membership information
will be managed within the MyNHS portal provided by Membra, as part
of the CSU Field Force offer to CCGS in the North West to further
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develop public and patient engagement.
The South Cheshire Patient Federation, which represents local public
voices, provides valuable insight to us on our work programmes and
services.
Use of service users in specific pieces of work i.e. intermediate care
redesign, development of integrated teams round GP practices, carers
monies and developments
Engagement Event held to introduce the Quality and S afeguarding
strategy to the public, patients and s takeholders and t o determine
whether as a s trategy it is fit for purpose to take forward to use and
embed – 14.08.14
Patient Stories are presented at the Quality & Performance Committee
and the Governing Body. H ealthWatch also sit on the Quality &
performance Committee and attend the Primary Care Quality Group.
Are CCG plans
delivering better
outcomes for
patients?

The information below details a few examples of our work to deliver
better outcomes for patients during this year:
Integrated Community Teams
Our Connecting Care Board has developed an innovative solution to
enable the delivery of Integrated Teams. The board has established a
‘Provider Board’ which brings together multiple acute, mental health,
community and primary care providers. An ‘Innovation Fund’ has been
created (within BCF) from a range of sources e.g. tariff deflator, multipartner contributions and this has created the resource to contract for
outcomes via an ‘Alliance contract’ to achieve our ambitions for the care
system.
The Provider Board has invested in a project team and devised a plan
to deliver integrated teams
Intermediate Care Services Review
The Intermediate Care review was completed in May 2014 and reported
to CCE in June 2014. It has been utilised to create a vision for the
future provision of intermediate care and reablement services to be
known at Short Term Assessment, Intervention, Recovery and
Rehabilitation Service (STAIRRS).
STAIRRS seeks to bring together existing intermediate care,
reablement and other community support services to shift the balance
of provision from acute bed based services to community step up and
home based health and s ocial care support to improve patient
outcomes and deliver more cost effective, sustainable care.
Where patients are admitted to hospital, to provide a timely route out,
with support, to regain mobility and social function in a medically safe
environment.
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The service will be delivered through a redesign of existing intermediate
care, reablement and other community support services to provide
timely access to assessment and i ntervention and reduce emergency
admissions.
The redesigned service will be based on individual health and social
care patient needs rather than prescribed service criteria offering choice
to patients and c arers and providing alternatives to traditional hospital
and intermediate care bed based services.
Primary Care Mental Health Team
The aim of this project is to develop a new primary care mental health
team which will have a focus on dementia and on mental health liaison.
The aim of an integrated team would be to provide high quality care that
results in improved health and wellbeing and a better experience for
adults with complex care needs. This will be a chieved by joining up
mental health and physical health services to focus on individuals in
their own homes and community, and reduce the need for emergency
care
The team will provide additional skills and knowledge; will work closely
with GP practices and link with the developing integrated
neighbourhood team model.
The proposals for establishing this team have come out of two separate
commissioning intentions for 2013/14.
•
•
•
•
•
•

July 2014 - A business case presented for the combined primary
care mental health team
July – October – consultation and engagement with existing
providers and stakeholders
October 2014 – Funding secured and agreed for 3 pilot sites
November 2014 – Service specified and J ob descriptions
agreed
November - Recruitment of new personnel
January – Implementation of new teams in pilot areas

Re-commissioning of Personality Disorder Service
April 2014 – August 2014 - Review of the present service, engagement
with service users and staff delivering the present service.
A literature review produced examples of good practice and ev idence
based models.
November 2014 – discussion with providers re pathways between
Personality Disorder service and IAPT step 4.
December 2014- Finalise and present the business case for a proposed
new service
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Diagnose Cancer Early
To diagnose cancer early and contribute to a reduction in the Years of
Life Lost and premature mortality objectives. This includes targeted
intervention and e fforts in towns with higher incidence and m ortality
from cancer
•

Cancer screening uptake is in the top 20% compared to England.
 Bowel cancer screening uptake:
•

Vale Royal – 54.2%

•

South Cheshire – 56.2%

•

England average – 52%

 Breast cancer screening uptake:
•

Vale Royal – 70%

•

South Cheshire – 78.2%

•

England average - 73,6%

 Cervical cancer screening uptake:
•

Vale Royal – 75.8%

•

South Cheshire – 75.8%

•

England average - 73.7%

•

The proportion of cancers diagnosed at an earlier stage of disease
progression has reduced by 7.3% in year one.

•

The proportion of cancers diagnosed following an emergency
presentation – This data is available on an annual basis.

•

Cancer services directory published November 2014

•

22 Practice Nurses completed a l ocal Macmillan Cancer 6 day
course September 2014

•

GP and S econdary Care Diagnose Cancer early learning events
across South Cheshire and Vale Royal in Protected Learning Time
attended by 140 Primary Care clinicians April and June 2014

•

Lung cancer diagnostic pathway reviewed with new pathway
operational June 2014
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•

Reduction in premature mortality from cancer (under 75):
 123 per 100,000 (South Cheshire).
 115 per 100,000 (Vale Royal).

Specialist Community Stroke Rehabilitation Service
The specialist community stroke rehabilitation team, incorporating an
early supported discharge (ESD) service will enable 100% stroke
survivors develop a g reater quality of life and independence following
stroke. Patients will access specialist community stroke rehabilitation
services following standard discharge from a stroke unit or following
ESD.
2014/15 – Procurement process completed. East Cheshire NHS Trust
awarded the contract to provide the service.
Implementation plan is in progress and is on track for service to
commence 1st December 2014.
Does the CCG
have robust
governance
arrangements?

The CCG has a clear committee governance structure which has clearly
defined terms of reference to help support the monitoring of systems
and controls to uphold the legal compliance required by an NHS public
sector organisation.
Governance of some of the partnership arrangements are also in place
i.e. Connecting Care Board, Joint Commissioning Leadership team with
oversight of BCF for South Cheshire.
The CCG has submitted an appl ication to NHS England for CCG
Constitution Changes. The revised CCG Constitution reflects the
changes to the CCG operational and governance arrangements since
we become an authorised CCG in April 2013. The main reason for the
application to revise the CCG Constitution is to amend the ‘Scheme of
Reservation and Delegation’ (SORD). I n line the letter from Sir David
Nicholson (Gateway 00053), the CCG has included a statement that
specifically references the right of members or employees to make a
protected disclosure - see section 9.10 of the CCG Constitution.
We have also given due c onsideration to the recent changes to the
legislative reform order (LRO), which, from 1st October 2014 onwards,
allows the CCG to have the ability to form a joint committee with one or
more other CCGs to jointly exercise our functions and with NHS
England so that the CCGs and NHS England can exercise functions
jointly. The CCG Constitution has taken account of the recent
legislative changes.

Are CCGs
working in
partnership with
others?

The strong history of partnership working in Cheshire has been a key
strength contributing to our success with our Cheshire wide partners in
becoming one of fourteen national ‘Integration Pioneer’ sites.
There is a s trong partnership across commissioners and pr oviders as
demonstrated by Connecting Care Board, HWBBs and supporting sub
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groups and working groups. Examples of partnership working would be:
integrated teams, carers, community equipment services, mental health
liaison services, SEND development, stroke services, winter pressures
To support health and social care organisations to work more closely in
local areas and to facilitate shared funding models, for 2014/15 a
national ‘Better Care Fund’ has been created. The mandated fund has
been created through the movement of existing grants and resources.
This transformational work is being lead out by the two Health and
Wellbeing Boards within Cheshire with support from the national
pioneer team.
We are committed to the development of a joint risk sharing agreement
with the Local Authority in respect of the Better Care Fund Plan. Work is
being finalised.
Does the CCG
have strong and
robust leadership

As a C CG we have clinical representation throughout our formal
statutory committees such as our Membership Council, Governing
Body, Remuneration Committee, Quality and per formance committee,
Primary Care quality group as well as our Programme Boards and
working groups.
We have lay (public) representation throughout the CCG including
Governing Body, Governance and A udit Committee, our Health
Inequalities and Equality and Diversity group working groups.

2.3.2. Quality Premium
The ‘quality premium’ was established to reward CCGs for improvements in the quality of the
services that they commission and for associated improvements in health outcomes and
reducing health inequalities.
The Quality Premium payment for achieving 2014-15 will be invested locally during 2015-16.
A summary of the position for 2014-15 is shown below:
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NHS South Cheshire CCG
Quality Premium 2014-15
Quarter 3 Summary Progress
Measure on Target – End
of Quarter 3

RAG

Reducing potential years of life lost from
amenable mortality (15%)

No

R

Improving access to psychological therapies
(15%)

No

R

Reducing avoidable emergency admissions
(25%)

No

R

Friends and family test and patient experience
(15%)

Yes

G

Improved reporting of medication safety
incidents (15%)

Yes

G

Yes

G

National Measures

Local Measures
To appropriately manage patients with Atrial
Fibrillation whilst promoting therapeutic
optimization in accordance with best practice.
(15%)

Other Criteria Related to Payment of Quality Premium - that providers meet the NHS
Constitution rights and pledges for patients in relation to:
NHS Constitution rights and pledges

Measure Achieved
(April – Feb 2015)

Referral to Treatment times

Yes

A & E waits

No

Cancer Waits- 62 days

Yes

Category A Red 1 ambulance calls

No

Both the provisional and final notifications of quality premium awards will be made early in
quarter 3, 2015-16.
A proportion of the Quality Premium Award 2013-14 was used to invest in a project to
support the delivery and monitoring of the Atrial Fibrillation (AF) and to support the Quality
and Safety Champion in Primary Care. In order to ensure that:
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•

•
•
•

An optimal number of patients with AF receive appropriate anticoagulation
treatment after clinical assessment and evaluation of risks and benefits.
Demonstrating improved quality of life and increased health outcomes
(linking directly to the CCGs key vision and priorities);
Patients will feel more supported to manage their health conditions;
The long-term numbers of avoidable admissions for catastrophic Strokes will
decrease and improved mortality rates for this cohort of patients across this
area;
Raised levels of clinical education, learning and understanding in the best
practice treatment for AF.

2.3.3. Meeting the NHS Constitution Standards
At NHS South Cheshire CCG we are committed to improving outcomes: better health for the
population of South Cheshire, increasing the quality of care received by all patients whilst
being accountable custodians of the public purse. To achieve this, we need to deliver
sustained improvements against the NHS Constitution Standards, NHS Outcomes
Framework and the seven sentinel indicators.
Incidence of Clostridium Difficile - At a pr ovider level the target set was 42 c ases for the
year. A total of 66 cases were found during this year (24 acute provider and 42 c ommunity
provider). In response to this non achievement as a CCG we have supported providers to
develop a C Diff Recovery Plan and have also taken an active role in a health economy wide
Infection, Prevention and Control Network group who are working hard on this agenda. This
includes working with colleagues from Public Health, other CCG’s, NHS England Area Team
and our Providers.
All cases of confirmed C Difficile undergo a root cause analysis investigation. For assurance
about the management of infection prevention and w hen there are outbreaks of HCAI the
CCGs requested and r eceived an infection control reduction plan. As a C CG we have
representation at the strategic infection control group led by the NHS England Area team.
We also attend provider infection control and prevention committees.
It is important to note that within the figures identified there are a small proportion of cases
that are reoccurring episodes of C Diff. These reoccurring episodes are identified within our
aging population who through co-morbities and frailty may due to an acute episode and
subsequent treatment develop reoccurring C Diff.
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Commissioner : NHS South Cheshire CCG

Reporting
Period

NHS Constitution & Outcomes Framework Measures
NHS Code

Measure

Target

YTD

EB_1

18 Week Referral to Treatment - Admitted
Patients

90%

93.65%

EB_2

18 Week Referral to Treatment - Non-Admitted
Patients

95%

94.92%

EB_3

18 Week Referral to Treatment - Incomplete
Patients

92%

94.70%

EB_4

Diagnostic Waits - 6 week waits

99%

99.38%

EB_5

A&E Waiting Times - 4hrs Waits

95%

91.82%

EB_6

Cancer 2 Week Wait - All cancer two week wait

93%

95.53%

EB_7

Cancer 2 Week Wait - Non-suspected cancer
breast symptoms

93%

95.46%

EB_8

Cancer 31 day first treatment

96%

98.60%

EB_9

Cancer 31 day subsequent treatments - surgery

94%

99.30%

EB_10

Cancer 31 day subsequent treatments - anticancer drugs

98%

100.00%

EB_11

Cancer 31 day - Subsequent treatments radiotherapy

94%

97.95%

EB_12

Cancer 62 day referral to first treatment -

85%

90.22%

EB_13

Cancer 62 day referral to first treatment - NHS
screening referral

90%

91.53%

EB_14

Cancer 62 day referral to first treatment consultant referral upgrade

n/a

90.53%
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2.3.4 Development and Performance of our CCG
As a CCG, we recognise the increasing pressures in elective and non-elective care,
continuing health care, funded nursing care and learning disabilities services. To enable us
to provide good quality care, make improvements to the services locally for our population,
whilst at the same time contribute to the development of a more financially sustainable
health and care economy; we have to start to address such challenges. We are working to
ensure that there is a continued drive for closer integration between health and care services
achieved within existing allocations and change recognised through provider contracts.
We have started the initial work this year in developing a new collaborative contracting
approach between our main acute, community and m ental health providers using either
alliance or lead contractor models. The model to be developed will use the approach of a
joint resource to drive innovation, funding collaborative working across the health economy
as a whole.
We believe that we are heading in the right direction using new approaches working in this
way to ensure our patients and popul ation of South Cheshire are able to access the right
service, at the right time, closer to their homes.

2.4.

Sustainability report

Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of peoples' lifestyles and
business choices are changing the world in which we live. We acknowledge this
responsibility to our patients, local communities and the environment by working hard to
minimise our footprint.
As an or ganisation that acknowledges its responsibility towards creating a sustainable
future, however we consider neither the potential need to adapt the organisation's activities
nor its buildings and estates as a result of climate change.
The NHS places a substantial burden on the transport infrastructure, whether through
patient, clinician or other business activity. T his generates an i mpact on air quality and
greenhouse gas emissions. It is therefore important that we consider what steps are
appropriate to reduce or change travel patterns. During 2013/14 the CCG produced 16
tCO2e of CO2 emissions through Business Travel, and t his decreased to 11 tCO2e during
14/15.
Information for reporting waste, energy and ov erall carbon footprint in relation to property
now owned by NHS Property is to be provided by them. However, it was not be possible to
do this in 2014/15 as the CCG has not been given access to this information. We hope to
do so in 2015/16 subject to NHS Property Services being able to provide the relevant
information.
The CCG has completed a review of its internal IT and photocopying needs. This was with
the prime intention of reducing the amount of paper used and ensuring that people only print
what is absolutely necessary. This includes a reduced number of printers and copiers that
will be accessed through key codes to allow for tracking of usage. I mportantly, there is no
need for a signature to be appl ied in ink to paper to make its contents ‘official’. The
Electronic Communications Act 2000 c ontains provisions recognising the use of electronic
signatures. The signature can simply be the name of the author typed at the bottom, an
inserted image of a scanned ink signature, or a specific digital signature that carries a certain
level of guaranteed authenticity. Where we have an email address, therefore, our default
position is to use it unless the communication contains patient or other confidential data that
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is not appropriate for email. The alternative of printing a message, enveloping it, putting on
a stamp on and s ending it through the post is a waste of scarce resources. For similar
reasons, electronic documents should not be printed for filing without good reason.
Whilst recognising that we are a ‘ relatively’ small organisation we take our responsibilities
seriously. However, we recognise that our biggest impact can be with regards to how we
commission and procure services. In all of our commissioning and procurement processes
we ask all of our providers to ensure that they are committed to delivering the sustainability
agenda as detailed by NHS England and Sustainable Development Unit

2.4.1 Environmental, social and community issues

NHS South Cheshire CCG this year supported NHS Change Day by encouraging the team
to make and carry out pledges that together make a difference. Our Chief Nurse and
Director of Quality for example pledged to ensure all communication with patients and
colleagues is as clear and simple to understand as possible.
The CCG is keen to support its employees to continue to ‘make a di fference’ and as an
organisation have supported charity days and e vents throughout the year, such as ‘wear it
pink’ and raising funds for Alzeimers UK.

2.5.

Equality and diversity report

The CCG is required to pay due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) as defined
by the Equality Act 2010. Failure to comply has legal, financial and reputational risks.
The key functions that enable NHS South Cheshire CCG to make commissioning decisions
and monitor the performance of their providers have to demonstrate (in an audi table
manner) that the needs of protected groups have been considered in:
•

Commissioning processes

•

Consultation and engagement

•

Procurement functions

•

Contract specifications

•

Quality contract and performance schedules, and

•

Governance systems

•

Human resources and workforce
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Equality and Diversity
Promoting equality is at the heart of NHS South Cheshire CCG core values, ensuring that
we commission services fairly and that no community or group is left behind in the changes
that will be made to health services to meet the challenges the NHS face, as outlined in the
‘Five Year View’.
We will continue to work internally, and i n partnership with our Providers, community and
voluntary sector and ot her key organisations to ensure that we advance equality of
opportunity and meet our exacting requirements of the Equality Act 2010.
The Equality Act 2010 requires us to meet our Public Sector Equality Duty across a range of
protected groups including age, gender, race, sex, sexual orientation, religion / belief, gender
identity, marital / civil partnership status and pregnancy / maternity status.

Equality objectives
We are required to prepare and publ ish Equality Objectives to meet our Specific Duty as
outlined in the Equality Act 2010. Our plan is specific and measurable and we will update on
an annual basis.
The CCG understands that at sometimes in our lives we may face barriers in relation to
accessing health services or experience different outcomes. The CCG wants to reduce the
health differences across our diverse communities and our Equality Objectives will support
us to do this.
Our CCG Equality Objectives are:
•
•
•
•

To improve NHS South Cheshire CCGs understanding of the needs of the local
population by protected characteristic through engagement and other key sources data
and patient experience information
To make fair and transparent commissioning decisions
To ensure the equality of opportunity in employment and training provision
To improve the equality performance of Our providers

Equality delivery Systems 2
To help us set our Equality Objectives we are currently undertaking Equality Delivery
Systems (EDS) 2.
NHS South Cheshire CCG has been a ssessed as “Developing / achieving” reflecting the
need to fully embed equality and diversity.
The CCG is currently working toward to
improving its performance around the following EDS 2 indicators, over the next 2 years:
•
•
•

Services are commissioned, procured, designed and delivered to meet the health
needs of local communities
People, carers and c ommunities can readily access hospital, community health or
primary care services and should not be denied access on unreasonable grounds
Papers that come before the Governing Body and ot her major Committees identify
equality-related impacts including risks, and say how these risks are to be managed
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The outcomes and recommendations of the assessment will be pr esented to the CCG in
June 2015.

Provider performance
All our key NHS providers have undertaken the EDS 2 assessment and have set equality
objectives in accordance with their requirements. We are working closely with our providers
to improve equality performance and access and outcomes for protected groups through
robust contract monitoring, via the quality contract schedule.

Human resources
The CCG is also working towards implementation of the New National Workforce race
Standard. S tandard aims, to address the lack of Black and Minority Ethnic (BME)
representation at senior levels in the NHS, and t o galvanise cultural and organisational
change. The Standard, underpinned by commissioning and regulatory action, will also help
to address the treatment of BME staff including adverse outcomes throughout recruitment
and promotion, access to non-mandatory training, over-representation in disciplinary
procedures, bullying and harassment. The new standard supports the vision set out in the
Five year Forward View and the need to ensure NHS workforces experience inclusive and
non-discriminatory opportunities
In 2014/15 the CCG has launched a HR Framework which outlines the tasks that are being
undertaken to meet the organisation’s obligations under the Equality Act with regards to its
workforce.
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2.6.

Strategic report self-certification

Strategic Report Self-Certification, Accountable Officer
We certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has complied with the statutory duties laid
down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
I certify that the clinical commissioning group has incident response plans in place, which
are fully compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness
Framework 2013. The clinical commissioning group regularly reviews and makes
improvements to its major incident plan and has a programme for regularly testing this plan,
the results of which are reported to the Governing Body.
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been withheld
from the clinical commissioning group’s external auditors, and members of the Governing
Body take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant information and to
ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where appropriate.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Date: 21st May 2015
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3. Members’ Report
3.1.

The Composition of Our Membership Council

The following table provides details of the Practice representatives that attend Membership
Council.
Name and Role

Date

Dr Andrew Wilson
Chair

1st April 2013 - Current

Dr Annabel London
1st April 2013 - Current
Locality Lead – Nantwich & Rural and Primary Care
Lead and GP at Kiltearn Medical Centre
Dr Andrew Hudson
1st April 2013 - Current
Quality Lead (and from January 2014 Locality Lead
for Crewe) and GP at Hungerford Medical Centre
Dr Andrew Spooner
1st April 2013 - Current
Ageing Well Programme Lead
Dr Philip Goodwin
14th April 2014 – Current
Locality Lead for SMASH and GP at Cedars Medical
Centre
Dr Jo’An Hammersley
1st April 2013 - Current
GP at The Acorns Surgery
Dr John Crofts
GP at Oaklands Surgery

1st April 2013 - Current

Dr Nigel Rickards
GP at Merepark Medical Centre

1st April 2013 – June
2014

Dr Susan Pearson
GP at Merepark Medical Centre

July 2014 - current

Dr James Patterson
GP at Greenmoss Medical Centre

1st April 2013 - Current

Dr Jonathan Hill
GP at Haslington Surgery

1st April 2013 – Current

Dr Lalit Gurnani
GP at Nantwich Health Centre

1st April 2013 – Current

Dr Keith Malone
Urgent Care Lead and GP at Tudor Surgery

1st April 2013 – Current

Dr Russell Muirhead
GP at Audlem Medical Practice

1st April 2013 – August
2013

Dr Dave Holden
GP at Audlem Medical Practice

1st September 2013 –
Current
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1st April 2013 – Current

Dr Namrata Saggar
GP at Wrenbury Medical Centre

Dr Katherine Hutchinson
1st April 2013 – Current
Medicines Management Lead and GP at Kiltearn
Medical Centre
Dr Paul Uglow
1st November 2013 –
GP at Grosvenor Medical Centre
Current
Dr Ged O’Sullivan
GP representative on Governance &
Committee and GP at Delamere Practice
Dr Richard Calderhead
GP at Earnswood Medical Centre

Audit

1st April 2013 – Current
1st April 2013 – Current

Dr Michael Freeman
GP at Millcroft Medical Centre
Dr John Dixon
GP at Rope Green Medical Centre

1st April 2013 – Current

Dr Neil Paul
GP at Ashfields Primary Care Centre

1st April 2013 – Current

1st April 2013 – Current

Mrs Tricia Vickers
1st April 2013 – Current
Practice Nurse Representative & Chair of Practice
Nurse Membership Council, Practice Nurse at
Grosvenor Medical Centre
Mr Simon Whitehouse - Standing Invite
1st April 2013 - Current
Chief Officer
Mrs Lynda Risk - Standing Invite
Chief Finance Officer

1st April 2013 - Current

Mrs Fiona Field - Standing Invite
Director of Partnerships & Governance

1st April 2013 - Current

Judith Thorley
Executive Nurse

1st April 2013 - Current

As illustrated above our CCG has 18 Male Members and 8 female Members. There have
been 11 South Cheshire Membership Council meetings – all have been quorate.
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3.2.

The Composition of Our Governing Body

The table below details the Governing Body members and a l ist of their declarations of
interest.
Name and Role

Date

Declaration of Interest

Dr Andrew Wilson
Chair

1st
April
2014
Current

 GP Partner at Ashfields Primary Care
Centre
 Practice
has
income
sharing
agreement with Health2Works on non
NW SHA web license sales
 GP Partnership (Sandbach GPs) has
had discussions with a company called
4GPs. This company plans to provide
outpatient services locally and have
approached the partnership seeking to
subcontract the organisation and
running of outpatient clinics (initial
conversation 21 Jan 2013)
 Sandbach GPs rents rooms to MCHfT,
CWP, UHNS, Mr Needham Consultant Ophthalmologist, 4GP/Spire
(room with support service)
 One of the Director of 4GPs is Dr Neil
Paul who is a partner at Sandbach GPs
 From January 2014 s pouse will be
employed by St Luke's Cheshire
Hospice
 Sandbach GPs are a member practices
of South Cheshire GP Alliance
 Receive Funding for research at
Ashfields
 Governor at MCHFT (as CCG
appointment)

Simon Whitehouse
Chief Executive Officer

1st
April
2014
Current

 Trustee Active Cheshire
 Wife works at the University Hospitals
of North Midlands

Lynda Risk
Chief Finance Officer

1st
April
2014
Current

 Nil declared

Fiona Field
1st
April
Director of Partnerships and 2014
Governance
Current

 Director Trustee of Cheshire Young
Carers

1st
April
(Chair 2014
Current

 Non-Executive Vice Chair of Equity
Housing Group
 NHS England Chair of PLDP

Graham Bruce
Lay
Member
Governance & Audit)

John Clough
1st
Lay Member (Governance & 2014
Audit)

April
-

 Spouse is Director and Shareholder of
Reliance Medical Ltd
 Daughter Hon Treasurer SURVIVE a

59

Current

Diane Noble
Lay Member (Patient
Public Engagement)

1st
April
& 2014
Current

support charity

 Nil declared

Dr Annabel London
1st
April
Governing Body Member – 2014
Nantwich & Rural Locality – Current
Primary Care Quality &
Patient Safety Lead

 GP Partner, Kiltearn Medical Centre,
Church View Primary Care Centre,
Nantwich
 GP Partnership are working with 4GPs
GP provider organisation
 Husband is a m edical consultant at
Leighton Hospital. He also provides
private medical services through the
South Cheshire Private Hospital,
Crewe and the Grosvenor Nuffield
Hospital, Chester
 Husband is Chair of MAC at the South
Cheshire Private Hospital

Dr Andrew Hudson
1st
April
Governing Body Member – 2014 –
Crewe Locality - Quality &
Current
Patient Safety Lead

 GP Partner at Hungerford Medical
Centre & Commissioning Lead at
Hungerford Practice
 HMC aligned to 4 GPs
 Research
Partner
With
Keele
University
 I work at Hungerford, which has paid
into our local GP Federation, which
could be a potential future provider of a
subcontracted service.
 I am involved in scoring at PQQ and
ITT stages for CCG procurement of
community Service. Once the potential
providers has a bus iness model that
will subcontract out a percentage of
service delivery to primary care
provider.

1st
April
2014 –

 I lead on pr operty issues for the
practice. Also on l egal work and
agreements
 I am part owner of the building along
with partners. My wife also part owns
her surgery in Tunstall
 Director of a Residents Management
Company. I live in one o f the 11
houses involved.
 Partner, Grosvenor Medical Centre
 Partner Grosvenor Gresty Brook
Property Partnership
 Member of the GP Alliance - therefore
a shareholder but indirectly through
others

Dr Andrew Spooner
Governing Body Member

Current
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 My Wife is a par tner in Tunstall which
also has a f ederation but not currently
active
 Grosvenor delivers transitional care at
Lincoln House, Crewe
 CCG Council Member RCGP
 On Council as Mersey Faculty rep.
 Member prudent practice group
 Hon Sec NW region RCGP
 Demitted office as provost Mersey
Faculty this year
 Occasional
lecturer
for
other
organisations
e.g.
University
of
Liverpool
 Link with CLAHRC research network
 Junior Lecturer, Manchester University
Dept of Primary Care
 CQC Inspector
Dr Phil Goodwin
Governing Body Member

14th
April
2014 –
Current

 Locality head and boar d member
Cedars Practice
 Practice is member of 4GPs provider
partnership. Cedars is a participating
practice within the GP provider alliance

Dr Robert Pugh
Secondary
Representative

1st
April
Care 2014 –
Current

 Trustee of St Lukes Hospice, Winsford
since March 2013
 Trustee and Medical Advisor to CLIMB,
a children's charity related to childhood
metabolic disease
 Specialist Advisor for CQC inspection
visits.

Judith Thorley
Executive Nurse

1st
April
2014 –

 Director of Judi Thorley Solutions Ltd
 Associate with NDTi

Current
Heather Grimbaldeston
1st
April
Public Health, Cheshire East 2014 –
Council
Current

 Nil declared

As illustrated above our CCG has 8 Male Governing Body Members and 6 female Governing
Body Members. There have been 11 S outh Cheshire Governing Body meetings of which 7
have been Formal and in public and 4 have been informal – all of which have been quorate.
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been withheld
from the clinical commissioning group’s external auditors, and members of the Governing
Body take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant information and to
ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where appropriate.
A short biography of our Governing Body members can be seen in appendix three.
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Please see section 4.1 on page 44 for our CCG Governance Statement which details
members of other committees and sub-committees.
Details of our CCG employees can be found in section 1.2 Our Team on page 8.
The table below details NHS South Cheshire CCG Governance and Audit Committee
composition and its members:
Name and Role

Date

Graham Bruce
Chair – Lay Member
John Clough
Lay Member
Lynda Risk
Chief Finance Officer
Fiona Field
Director of Governance and Partnerships
Dr Ged O’Sullivan
GP Member
Jennifer Underwood
Risk and Performance Manager
Linda Elliott / Anne-Marie Harrop
Merseyside Internal Audit
Robin Baker / Paul Basnett
Grant Thornton, External Audit

1st April 2013 - Current

3.3.

1st April 2013 - Current
1st April 2013 - Current
1st April 2013 - Current
1st August 2013 - Current
February 2015 - Current
1st April 2013 - Current
1st April 2013 - Current

Pension Liabilities

Our employees are encouraged to join the NHS Pension Scheme. Please see note 4.5 for
the accounting policy note in the Financial Statements and Page 65 for the Remuneration
Report.

3.4.

External Audit

Grant Thornton have been appointed as external auditors of the CCG to audit our Annual
Report and Statutory Accounts. The cost of this work is £66,000.

3.5.

Disclosure of ‘Serious Untoward Events’

Please see our Governance Statement where details of disclosures required for incidents
involving data loss or confidentiality breaches can be found.

3.6.

Cost Allocation and Setting of Charges for Information

We certify that the Clinical Commissioning Group has complied with the HM Treasury’s
guidance on cost allocation and setting the charges for information.
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3.7.

Principles for Remedy

The CCG encourages a positive, open and hone st approach to receiving and responding to
complaints. Complaints provide a valuable feedback about patients’ experiences.
Complaints made to the CCG are handled in accordance with the local Council, Social
Services and N ational Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009. The NHS
Constitution and pr inciples of good complaint handling published by the Health Service
Ombudsman. These principles focus on getting it right; being customer focused; being open
and accountable; acting fairly and pr oportionately; putting things right; and s eeking
continuous improvement. This supports us to ensure all complaints are handled with the
patient/complainant at the centre of the response.
The CCG handles complaints about services that we commission, on behal f of our
population, from providers or about the exercise of any of our functions. We also investigate
more complex complaints where one or more organisations are involved, including NHS
England or other service providers or commissioners.
During 2014-15, the CCG has taken steps to improve the management of complaints by
delivering the service in-house, with the introduction of a Quality, Governance and
Compliance Team. Processes and procedures have been reviewed and revised to ensure
that complaint handling is efficient and e ffective, and t hat learning from complaints is
monitored. Each complaint is entered into a repository alongside Patient Advice Liaison
Service (PALS), MP letters and incident data to enable the monitoring of trends and patterns
in complaints and concerns raised by patients and healthcare professionals. This helps us
to detect systemic problems early by highlighting areas for improvement and
development. This information is reported to the CCG’s Incident and C omplaints Review
Group, who analyse the information and consider any actions required, driving
improvements to the quality of services commissioned by the CCG and sharing lessons
learned. The Chief Executive Officer of the CCG personally signs off the CCGs response to
every complaint that we receive.

3.8.

Employee Consultation

Over the past year we have placed an e mphasis on em ployee engagement and
consultation, with the development of various communication channels. These channels
include:
•

•

•

•

Intranet: This is the primary channel for written communications and all internal
communications are made available here. All news, events, information cascades,
documents, policies, calls to action, charity and C SR work as well as engagement
items can be viewed here
Team brief: These happen every two weeks and are held at Bevan House and
presented by a senior manager. The content is pre-arranged and linked to key
messages from Senior Management Team and Executive Team meetings.
The brief is often filmed and made available via webex or other medium on intranet
shortly afterwards. Briefing notes are cascaded throughout the organisation after the
session and available on the intranet.
Friday briefings: These are provided by Simon Whitehouse (Chief Officer of both
CCGs) and are uploaded to the intranet with an email link then sent to all employees.
The briefs contain relevant information to the organisation, thoughts and reflections
from the Chief Officer.
Social media: Both CCGs have an ac tive Twitter account where key messages,
information and campaigns are shared with all audiences. S pecific teams such as
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•

our Practice Engagement Managers and Think Pharmacy team have their own
Twitter accounts to channel specific engagement messages
Practice Newsletter: This is sent via email on a weekly basis and c ontains key
organisational messages and updates as well as items that need to be actioned by
GPs and Practice Managers. The content and distribution is owned by the Practice
Engagement Managers.

We regularly seek the views of our members and employees via these mechanisms and via
line management supervision and Performance Development Reviews (PDR’s).

3.9.

Disabled Employees

Please see section 2.5 Equality and d iversity report that covers our policy in relation to
disabled employees.

3.10.

Emergency Preparedness, Resilience & Response

In July 2014 N HS England issued revised core standards for Emergency Planning,
Resilience and R esponse (EPRR). The CCG conducted a gap analysis against the
standards and the CCG Incident Response and Business Continuity Plans were reviewed at
the same time.
On the 25th November 2014 a pape r was taken to the CCG Governance and A udit
committee outlining the process that had been undertaken and the Committee agreed that
that they had been pr ovided with “substantial” assurance that the CCG were compliant with
the standards and this was duly reported to NHS England who confirmed that they too had
“substantial” assurance.
The CCG continues to maintain an on call managers system, in conjunction with NHS Vale
Royal CCG, to ensure a 24/7 response.
There have been no requirements in year to activate the CCG emergency plans and t he
CCG continue to play a full part in the Local Health Resilience Partnership and relevant sub
groups.

3.11.

Statement as to Disclosure to Auditors

Each individual who is a member of the Membership Council/Governing Body at the time the
Members’ Report is approved confirms:
•
•

So far as the member is aware, that there is no relevant audit information of which the
clinical commissioning group’s external auditor is unaware; and,
That the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a member in
order to make them self-aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the clinical commissioning group’s auditor is aware of that information.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Date: 21st May 2015
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3.12.

Remuneration Report

The following report provides the reader with financial information regarding the outcomes of
the Remuneration Committee. The table below details NHS South Cheshire CCG
Remuneration Committee composition and its members (this is a joint committee with NHS
Vale Royal CCG):

Name

Position

Attendance

John Clough

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS South Cheshire CCG

3/3

Graham Bruce

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS South Cheshire CCG

3/3

Suzanne Horrill

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS Vale Royal CCG

3/3

Terry Savage

Lay Member - Governance and Audit
NHS Vale Royal CCG

2/3

Jenny Williams

Human Resources
Cheshire and Merseyside Commissioning
Support Unit

2/3

Dr Judi Price

GP and Clinical Member
NHS Vale Royal CCG

2/3

Dr Ged O’Sullivan

GP and Clinical Member
NHS South Cheshire CCG

2/3

Dr Philip Goodwin

GP and Clinical Member
NHS South Cheshire CCG

1/3**

**Please note that Dr Philip Goodwin only came into this post part way through the year and
due to this has only been eligible to attend one Remuneration Committee.
This Committee met three times in 2014-2015. The purpose of the Committee is to advise
the Governing Body on the determinations about pay and remuneration for employees of the
CCG and people who provide services to the CCG.

Remuneration of Senior Managers
‘Senior manager’ is defined as “those persons in senior positions having authority or
responsibility for directing or controlling major activities of the CCG”. This means those who
influence the decisions of the CCG as a whole rather than the decisions of individual
directorates or departments.
Our Remuneration Committee determined the salaries of the following Directors’ and senior
managers’ posts: Chair, Chief Executive and, Chief Finance Officer. The remuneration
packages for these senior posts were determined based on NHS England guidance: ‘Clinical
Commissioning Groups: Remuneration guidance for Chief Officers (where the senior
manager also undertakes the Accountable Officer role) and Chief Finance Officers for
CCG’s’ and in light of the complexities of running a shared management team across two
CCG’s.
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The NHS England guidance details a number of allowances that can be applied for differing
circumstances. These include a % increase for complexity and a % increase where joint
management arrangements exist. Both of these have been applied as per the Remuneration
Committee’s recommendations for the Chief Officer and the Chief Finance Officer. The
allowance relating to complexity % has been applied for the GP Clinical Chair salary. All
other CCG employed staff are covered by the Agenda for Change national terms and
conditions.
In line with NHS terms and conditions of service all senior managers (including the Chief
Officer) are appointed on permanent NHS employment contracts with a notice period of
three months for all employees at Director level.

Benefits
Senior managers may receive taxable benefits from the CCG lease car scheme as part of
their remuneration.

Pensions
All salaried Governing Body members had access to the NHS Pension Scheme, except for
our Lay Members. The scheme provides pensions on a final salary basis (see note 4.5 of the
Annual Accounts for further information).

Performance Management
Our CCG has adopted an annual appraisal system for all its employees. The Remuneration
Committee’s minutes state that the current organisation’s objectives and appraisal system
would continue to be the method by which performance and achievement of corporate
objectives were measured.

Termination packages
No termination costs or packages were agreed during 2014/15.
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Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2014/15

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Expense
Payments
(taxable)1
(to nearest
£100)
£00

80-85

40

Salary &
Fees
Name & Title
Simon Whitehouse – Chief Executive 2
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.6 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer 2
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Fiona Field - Director of Partnerships and Governance
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Hudson - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Spooner - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Philip Goodwin - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Annabel London - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Robert Pugh - Secondary Care Representative
April 2013 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
John Clough - Lay Member
April 2014 - March 2015
Graham Bruce - Lay Member
April 2014 - March 2015
Diane Noble - Lay Member
April 2014 - March 2015
Dr Heather Grimbaldeston - Director of Public Health 4
April 2014 - March 2015

100-105

Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

All Pension
Related
Benefits3
(bands of
£2,500)
£000

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

0

85-90

2.5-5

105-110

Total

60-65

22

0-2.5

65-70

80-85

5

0-2.5

80-85

15-20
15-20

15-20
102.5-105

120-125

15-20

15-20

15-20

15-20

5-10

5-10

5-10

0

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

0

0
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Governing Body Salary Disclosure 2013/14

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Expense
Payments
(taxable)1
(to nearest
£100)
£00

85-90

30

Salary &
Fees
Name & Title
Simon Whitehouse - Accountable Officer
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.64 WTE)
Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.6 WTE)
Fiona Field - Director of Partnership & Governance
April 2013 - March 2014 (1 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.64 WTE)
Dr Annabel London - Governing Body Member
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Mike Tate - Governing Body Member 5
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Mike Freeman - Governing Body Member 6
April 2013 - September 2013 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Hudson - Governing Body Member
December 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Spooner - Governing Body Member
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
Dr Robert Pugh - Secondary Care Representative
July 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
Judith Thorley - Executive Nurse
April 2013 - March 2014 (0.1 WTE)
John Clough - Lay Member
April 2013 - March 2014
Graham Bruce - Lay Member
April 2013 - March 2014
Diane Noble - Lay Member
April 2013 - March 2014

100-105

Bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

All Pension
Related
Benefits3
(bands of
£2,500)
£000

(bands of
£5,000)
£000

160-162.5

245-250

147.5-150

250-255

Total

85-90

10

(2.5-5)

80-85

65-70

20

107.5-110

175-180

15-20

15-20

15-20

15-20

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

20-25

40-42.5

60-65

5-10

5-10

0-5

0-5

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10

5-10
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Notes to Statements
1. The taxable benefits relate to the CCGs lease car scheme. For Simon Whitehouse and
Lynda Risk 64% of the benefit in kind is assumed to be gained from NHS South Cheshire
CCG and 36% from NHS Vale Royal CCG.
2. NHS South Cheshire CCG has a shared management team with NHS Vale Royal CCG
where the costs of a number of employees are shared between the two organisations. The
remuneration above displays the cost to NHS South Cheshire CCG only.
Simon Whitehouse - Total remuneration from both organisations is £125,000-£130,000.
Lynda Risk - Total remuneration from both organisations is £95,000-£100,000
3. The values in the All Pension Related Benefits column derive from a calculation that
follows the HMRC method to estimate the employer’s contribution to the increase in pension
entitlement for defined benefit pension schemes. These values are not shared between the
NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG but are shown at the full amount for
both CCGs.
4. Dr Heather Grimbledeston is employed by Cheshire East Council and receives no
remuneration from NHS South Cheshire CCG
5. Dr Mike Tate left his role on the Governing Body in March 2014
6. Dr Mike Freeman left his role on the Governing Body in September 2013
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Governing Body Pension Disclosure 2014/15

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2015
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

90-95

431

24

455

0-2.5

0-2.5

5-10

25-30

142

17

160

0-2.5

0-2.5

25-30

80-85

458

25

483

0-2.5

0-2.5

40-45

120-125

868

40

908

2.5-5

12.5-15

5-10

25-30

100

102

203

0-2.5

0-2.5

20-25

70-75

402

1

403

Real
Real
increase in
increase in
pension
pension at
lump sum
age 60
at age 60
Name & Title

Simon Whitehouse – Chief Executive
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.6 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Fiona Field - Director of Partnerships and
Governance
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Spooner - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)
Judith Thorley - Chief Nurse
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2015

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
1 April
2014

Real
Cash
increase in Equivalent
Cash
Transfer
Equivalent Value at 31
Transfer
March
Value
2015

Notes to Statements
NHS South Cheshire CCG has a shared management team with NHS Vale Royal CCG. Simon Whitehouse, Lynda Risk and Judi Thorley are part of the
shared management team; their values above are shown as the combined total.
Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at 1 April 2014 is the closing Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at 31 March 2014 increased to represent inflation of 2.7%.
NHS South Cheshire CCG did not make any employer contributions to stakeholder pensions in 2014/15
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Governing Body Pension Disclosure 2013/14

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

Lump sum
at age 60
related to
accrued
pension at
31 March
2014
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

7.5-10

22.5-25

25-30

85-90

303

117

420

5-7.5

20-25

0-5

25-30

29

110

139

5-7.5

15-17.5

25-30

75-80

348

98

446

0-2.5

0-2.5

35-40

115-120

817

29

846

0-2.5

5-7.5

0-5

5-10

57

41

98

Real
Real
increase in
increase in
pension
pension at
lump sum
age 60
at age 60
Name & Title

Simon Whitehouse - Accountable Officer
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Wilson - Chair
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.6 WTE)
Lynda Risk - Chief Finance Officer
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Fiona Field - Director of Partnerships and
Governance
April 2014 - March 2015 (1 WTE)
Dr Andrew Spooner - Governing Body Member
April 2014 - March 2015 (0.1 WTE)

Total
accrued
pension at
age 60 at
31 March
2014

Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
1 April
2013

Real
Cash
increase in Equivalent
Cash
Transfer
Equivalent Value at 31
Transfer
March
Value
2014

Notes to Statements
NHS South Cheshire CCG has a shared management team with NHS Vale Royal CCG.
Simon Whitehouse and Lynda Risk are part of the shared management team; their values above are shown as the combined total.
NHS South Cheshire CCG did not make any employer contributions to stakeholder pensions in 2013/14
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GP Pensions
During the financial year the CCG has sought advice regarding the pensionable officer
status of GP Governing Body members. As a result of advice given during March 2015, the
CCG are now able to offer its GP Governing Body Members access to the NHS Pension
Scheme as an officer of the Organisation.
The CCG is in the process of implementing this in 2015/16 and retrospectively for 2014/15.
Consequently, the CCG made an accrual of £8,760 for the employers contribution at 14% in
the 2014/15 accounts. This amount is not included in either the salary or pension disclosure
tables above as it is still unknown whether the GP Governing Body Members wish to be part
of the scheme.

Pay Multiples
NHS South Cheshire CCG has a management sharing arrangement with NHS Vale Royal
CCG, it is the cost to NHS South Cheshire CCG that identifies them as “highest paid” and
not the total of that individual’s remuneration. The remuneration costs would typically be split
64% NHS South Cheshire CCG and 36% NHS Vale Royal CCG.
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the
highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s
workforce.
The remuneration of the highest paid director in NHS South Cheshire CCG in the financial
year 2014/15 was £102,500 (2013-14, £102,500). This was 3.67 times (2013/14, 5.04) the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £27,901 (2013/14, £20,331).
During the 2014/15 financial year, NHS South Cheshire CCG in conjunction with NHS Wirral
CCG, NHS West Cheshire CCG, NHS Vale Royal and NHS East Cheshire CCG withdrew
the Continuing Healthcare Assessment and Support Service from NHS Cheshire &
Merseyside CSU. NHS South Cheshire CCG are hosting the 45 employee within their
Organisation. The CCG ratio without the additional CHC staff would be 4.57 with the median
of the workforce receiving £22,419.
The complexity of the shared management arrangement means that consideration should be
given to the overall median total for NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG
which was £31,786.
In 2014/15, zero employees received remuneration in excess of the highest-paid director.
Remuneration ranged from £7,794 to £102,500.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-inkind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
To aid comparisons with similar organisations we have also disclosed below the pay
multiplies calculation of the combined management team for both NHS South Cheshire CCG
and NHS Vale Royal CCG.
The remuneration of the highest paid director in both NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS
Vale Royal CCG in the financial year 2013/14 was £137,500. This was 3.94 times the
median remuneration of the workforce, which was £34,875.
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Off Payroll Engagements
Off payroll engagements are payments made by the CCG to employees outside of their
payroll system that are for more than £220 per day and that last for longer than six months.
All off-payroll engagements are subject to internal discussion regarding the appropriate
treatment of income tax, national insurance and superannuation contributions. These
include payments made to GP Practices for Membership Assembly sessions attended by
Member Practice Senior Partners. A contract of services for GP’s has been developed that
includes clauses to allow the CCG to seek assurance regarding Tax and National Insurance
Contributions obligations.
GP’s serving on the Governing Body are classed as Off Payroll Workers, they are
remunerated via payroll with tax and NI contributions taken at source.

Number
Number of existing engagements as at 31st March 2015;

24*

of which, the number that have existed for less than one year

1

for between one and two years

23

* 18 of the above represent payments made to GP Practice for their attendance at the CCG
membership assembly.

Number
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration between 1st April 2014 and 31st March 2015

1

Number of new engagements which include contractual clauses
giving NHS South Cheshire CCG the right to request assurance in
relation to income tax and National Insurance obligations

0

Number for whom assurance has been requested **

10

of which; assurance has been received

10

assurance has not been received

0

engagements terminated as a result of assurance not being received

0

** National guidance recommends the CCG requests assurance from 20% of off payroll
engagements. Although there was one new engagement in 2014/15, the CCG requested
assurance from a sample of the engagements that had existed for longer than one year.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Date: 21st May 2015
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4. Statements by Accountable Officer
4.1. Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 ( as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be appointed
by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has appointed Mr Simon
Whitehouse (Chief Officer) to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning
Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the propriety and
regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping
proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts
comply with the requirements of the Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year financial statements in the
form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and
cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health and i n
particular to:
•
•
•
•

Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the relevant
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a
consistent basis;
Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis;
State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and d isclose and explain
any material departures in the financial statements; and
Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the responsibilities set
out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Date: 21st May 2015
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4.2. Governance Statement by the Chief Officer, Simon

Whitehouse as the Accountable Officer of NHS
South Cheshire CCG
4.2.1 Introduction and Context
NHS South Cheshire CCG was licenced from 1 April 2013 under provisions enacted in the
Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006.
The CCG was able to provide evidence that all conditions had been resolved and N HS
England concluded that the outstanding conditions had been met and resolved (22nd July
2013).

4.2.2 Scope of Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a s ound system of internal
control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning group’s policies, aims
and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and as sets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public
Money.
I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical
commissioning group is administered prudently and economically and that resources are
applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity.

4.2.3 Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
We are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance Code. However, we have
reported on ou r Corporate Governance arrangements by drawing upon best practice
available, including those aspects of the UK Corporate Governance Code we consider to be
relevant to the CCG and best practice.
The CCG can clearly demonstrate (throughout this Annual Report) the approach that it has
taken to comply with the main principles of the code•
•
•

Leadership
Effectiveness
Accountability

Relationship with Membership (the CCG does not have Shareholders
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4.2.4 The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b) states:
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant to it.
Key features of our CCG constitution in relation to governance are highlighted within the
Constitution Scheme of Delegation. This can be found in appendix D of the Constitution and
details both the split of responsibilities and d ecision making between the Membership
Council and the Governing Body. The Constitution for the CCG was updated and amended
during 2014/15 in line with NHS England guidance and s igned off by all of our members.
These changes were approved in full by NHS England and the revised version has been
made available to the public via the CCGs website (link below).
http://www.southcheshireccg.nhs.uk/publication/9027-nhs-south-cheshire-ccg-constitution
Information about our Membership Council and Governing Body, Remuneration Committee
and our Governance and Audit Committee can be found on page 58. Please see appendix
one for a diagram of our organisational structure.
The CCGs Clinical Commissioning Executive (CCE), which is joint group of both NHS
South Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and N HS Vale Royal Clinical
Commissioning Group, is accountable to the respective Governing Bodies, and ensures
that the two Clinical Commissioning Groups collaborate on ar eas of commissioning
where this adds value and increases efficiency. The Clinical Commissioning Executive:
a)

develops and recommends the group’s five year
commissioning plans to the relevant Governing Body;

and

annual

b) provides assurance to the Governing Body that the group’s commissioning
intentions and plans are effective, efficient and economic; that plans are
informed by patients and the public; that they are being delivered and that
risks associated with delivery are being mitigated;
c)

ensures the shared management arrangements are working effectively and
are sustainable to deliver commissioning intentions for NHS South Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning
Group;

d) has oversight of both group’s annual commissioning cycle;
e) through supporting structures and systems ensures that there is
continuous engagement with member practices on all aspects of its work;
f) approves or rejects business cases, within the agreed delegated authority;
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The Clinical Commissioning Executive comprises the following members:
Membership Category

Organisation

GP Clinical Member
GP Clinical Member
GP Clinical Member
GP Clinical Member
Clinical Chair
Clinical Chair
Accountable Officer

NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Chief Finance Officer
Executive Nurse
Director of Partnerships and Governance
Director of Partnerships and Governance
Lay Member
Lay Member
Programme Board Clinical Chairs x 3
Public Health Representative
Public Health Representative

NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Cheshire East Council
Cheshire West and Chester
Council

This group has met a total of 12 times this year, of which 11 were quorate.
The CCGs Quality and Performance Committee is a j oint committee of both NHS South
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Vale Royal Clinical Commissioning
Group, and is accountable to the respective Governing Bodies, and ensures that the two
Clinical Commissioning Groups collaborate on areas of commissioning where this adds
value and increases efficiency. The Quality and Performance Committee provides
assurance to the Governing Body that:
a) quality and patient experience is central to the work of the group and that
systems and process are in place for monitoring and acting on patient feedback,
in particular quality issues such as complaints, Patient and Liaison Services,
Serious Untoward Incidents and Never Events;
b)

services the group commissions are safe and effective, and lessons are
learnt from serious untoward incidents and never events;

c) there is continuous improvement in the quality of commissioned services;
in primary medical services and in patient outcomes;
d) that safeguarding statutory function and commissioners are being carried
out effectively at a local level;
e) the following sub-committees are authorised by the Governing Body and
are accountable to the quality and performance committee:
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i.

Maternity Services Liaison Committee;

ii.

Provider Clinical Quality & Patient Safety Review Meeting;

iii.

Safeguarding Monitoring Meetings.

f)

systems are in place to proactively identify and act upon early warning signs
of failing services;

g)

the group ensures it commissioning process is based upon reducing
health inequalities in access to, and the outcomes from healthcare.

The Quality and Performance Committee comprise the following members:
Membership Category

Organisation

GP Clinical Member
GP Clinical Member
Director of Partnerships and Governance
Director of Partnerships and Governance
Lay Member
Lay Member
Executive Nurse

NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG

Clinical Quality Manager
The following members are non-voting but
attend:
Senior Quality Improvement Manager
Programme Board Clinical Chairs x 3
Medicines Management Representative
Safeguarding Nurse – Adult
Safeguarding Nurse – Children
Performance and Risk Manager
Quality Improvement Manager
Quality Improvement Assistant
Secondary Care Doctor Governing Body
Financial/Contract Manager
Service Delivery Manager/Primary Care
Healthwatch
Healthwatch

NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
NHS Vale Royal CCG and
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Cheshire East
West Cheshire

This Committee has met 10 times this year, of which all were quorate.
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4.2.5 The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management
Framework
The CCG has in place a s trategy for the management of risk as part of its overall
governance arrangements. The strategy provides a c omprehensive guide to the CCG’s
approach to risk management, outlining committee and individual responsibilities. Key to this
strategy is setting out processes to identify risks to the organisation’s objectives and develop
plans and ac tions to address them. T his is then driven forward by ensuring that there is
continued and objective monitoring both internally and via the CCG committee structure.
The Governing Body, with support from Merseyside Internal Audit Agency, conducted a
workshop at the informal Governing Body meeting held in March 2014 to facilitate the
development of the Assurance Framework for 2014-15. This, along with the Operational
Plan 2014-16, then informed the development of the organisation’s Assurance Framework,
linking the strategic objectives and m apping long term potential risks and determining the
risk appetite against these risks.
The Internal Auditor conducted a review of the Assurance Framework in March 2015 and
determined that ‘an Assurance Framework has been established which is designed and
operating to meet the requirements of the AGS and provide reasonable assurance that there
is an effective system of internal control to manage the principle risks identified by the
organisation’.
The CCG reviewed and refreshed the contents of its Risk Management Strategy in
year. Programme Boards were given the mandate to manage risks ranked 10 an d
below. Those risks ranked 12 and above must have a ‘Risk Highlight’ form completed by the
risk owner which outlines the approach being taken to mitigate the risk, detailing controls in
place and as surance that can be taken. Risks are scored using the system based on
likelihood of the risk occurring and t he impact if the incident were to occur. Risks are
reviewed on a monthly basis by the Senior Management Team and by the Executive Team
to ensure the appropriate actions are in place and are on track. All operational risks and any
risks ranked 12 and ab ove are reviewed by the Governance and A udit Committee during
2014-15. A full report is received at each meeting outlining, as well as all risks over 12, any
new entries, closures and downgrades of risks.
All risks have an Executive ‘owner’ as well as an operational lead with responsibility for the
day-to-day delivery of mitigating actions, developing controls and i dentifying assurances.
Work is ongoing to encourage risk management awareness on a day-to-day basis. Training
is planned during 2015-16.
Risks currently on the risk register have been identified from a number of sources including
internal audit review findings, through programme/project management and general
operational activity. These risks have been cross referenced to the Assurance Framework
and include:
•

Continuing Healthcare – service transfer and delivery – this service had been run
by the CSU on behalf of the CCGs across Cheshire. Concerns about the service
led to a decision to transfer the service ‘in-house’. This has now been completed
and is being hosted by NHS South Cheshire CCG on behal f of 5 CCGs across
Cheshire and the Wirral. The service is being managed through monthly contract
meetings involving all five CCGs and challenges in detail all aspects of the service.
Actions are in place to manage the back log of cases, including agreeing to extra
staffing. A joint committee is responsible for monitoring the service and meets
monthly with senior representatives from each of the CCGs and the Head of the
CHC service all attending. Monthly performance reports are provided to the CCG’s
Quality & Performance Committee.
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•

Commissioning Support Unit – performance and SLA – performance management
measures were put in place for various areas of the service. Action plans were
developed for all identified service areas, which were closely monitored through
regular meetings and work between identified CCG and CSU leads for each
service area. Rapid development events were staged and an independent review
was commissioned by the CCG, leading to project reviews to support the
development of service outputs from the CSU. This work led to the decision to
transfer CHC and the management of incidents, complaints and FOI requests inhouse, both have which have been successfully completed. CHC as a shared
service (see above) and Incidents & Complaints management as a dedicated
South Cheshire and Vale Royal service. Business Intelligence, ICT,
Communications and HR continue to be monitored and reviewed against the
development plans put in place. This continues, alongside work with other CCGs in
the area and NHS England to determine how services will be provided under the
Lead Provider Framework in 2016-17 onwards.

•

Community Services – service delivery and performance – pressures within various
service areas provided by ECT Community Services have been monitored through
monthly contract review meetings attended by senior staff from ECT and the CCGs
(NHS South Cheshire CCG and NHS Vale Royal CCG). Regular reporting to the
CCGs through the Quality & Performance Committee and Clinical Commissioning
Executive which have raised challenges to the Trust. Service Delivery Improvement
Plans (SDIPs) have been developed jointly and a deep dive is taking place.
Monthly monitoring calls are also in place. In year the Trust has demonstrated
improved staffing/recruitment levels, has revisited its structure and introduced new
admin posts to support service delivery and is actively working with the CCGs to
address service issues. A board to board is planned to address ongoing concerns.

• Primary Care IT Funding - The revenue funding was transferred from NHSE to the

CCGs from April 2014, due to historic investments in IT the revenue monies were
recalculated across Cheshire which left a gap from 2013/14 of £338,000 needed to
pay the current service provision to the CSU. Application for transitional funding
was submitted to NHSE to cover the notified gap for 2014/15. A total request of
£338,000 was requested for 2014/15 for both CCGs; we were notified in July that
although transitional funding for year 1 had been approved we were still left with a
£20,000 gap for South Cheshire and a £15,000 gap for Vale Royal. Reduction of
the highest support cost for Primary Care was planned, this is currently the COIN
infrastructure that provides all data lines to GP Practices for network, telephony via
N3 contracted links with BT, with a business case approved by NHS England and
the CCGs. Work is ongoing for the new MPLS contract, which it is hoped will bring
cost savings of approximately £150,000

We manage provider/contractor performance based upon bus iness performance principles
of:
-

Clear targets and accountabilities;

-

Performance Tracking;

-

Effective review meeting structures;

-

Good Performance Conversations; and

-

Consequence of breach.
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The principles highlighted above are the mechanism for which the CCG identify any failing
service. Taking the main Provider as an example (Mid Cheshire Hospitals NHS Foundation
Trust) we can demonstrate below how we can highlight how a f ailing service will be
identified.
The CCG has established a c lear and ac countable Governance Structure for identifying
failing services within MCHfT. T here are two main sub committees of the main contract
performance review meeting, meeting monthly. T hese are the Finance and P erformance
Review Group and the Quality and Safety Committee with core membership including senior
staff from both organisations. A ll performance issues are initially discussed via these two
groups. Where there are items that cannot be agreed/disputes these are then escalated to
the main contract performance review meeting.
To identify performance issues within the Trust e.g. a failing service, key metrics are
discussed from the Trusts performance report and w here there are issues, the CCG
requests action plans for remedial action. The consequence of any non-compliance results
in escalation to the main performance meeting sanctions and/or a formal contract query in
line with the NHS Standard Contract. This is a defined process and the ultimate sanction for
non-compliance/consequence of breach is withholding of monies to the Trust as per the
NHS Standard Contract.
Our CCG Management Team and Governing Body Members have received training on
Counter Fraud delivered by Mersey Internal Audit Agency (MIAA); we have provided leaflets
and information to raise awareness. The CCGs Anti-Fraud Bribery and Corruption Policy
was updated in line with current guidance and best practice during 2014-15.
Equality Impact Assessments are carried out and are built into the Programme Management
Office processes that are being developed by the CCG. Reporting of incidents is encouraged
and policies are in place to facilitate this.
We also recognise our responsibility with regard to public consultation and engagement and
have been involved in activities throughout the year which have given our patient population
an opportunity to raise risks. Our risk report is reviewed by our Governing Body in a public
meeting giving the public an awareness of the CCG’s current risks and the actions that are
being proposed or taken in order to mitigate and minimise them.

4.2.6 The Clinical Commissioning Group Internal Control
Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to
identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the
impact should they be realised, The CCG recognises that it is not possible, or on occasion
appropriate, to entirely eliminate risk. On this basis the Risk Management Framework
provides a process to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level and it can,
therefore, only provide a reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The CCG’s Governance and Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of our internal
controls on behal f of the Governing Body. Controls in place include the Assurance
Framework and Risk Register, internal policies and reporting systems. Assurances are
received via internal and external audit, local counter fraud services, management and
committee reporting.
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Throughout the year audits have been carried out to ensure the effectiveness of our control
systems, as well as seeking assurance on the effectiveness of services provided to us by the
CSU.
The Governing Body adheres to the principles of the CCGs Constitution and has identified
delegated authority to its sub committees to carry out assurance and scrutiny regarding the
arrangements for systems, processes and controls.
The CCG’s governance overview schematic presented below provides a l ine of sight
mapping out key business information that supports the operational arrangements of the
organisation and uphold its compliance requirements.
Our Good Governance mechanisms and holistic overview:

During 2014-15 reviews of key policies and strategies have been considered by the
Governance and Audit Committee together with supporting operational systems. Key areas
have included Business Continuity; Information Governance; ICT systems; Standards of
Business Conduct; Anti-Fraud & Bribery, financial applications and safeguarding standards.
Updates on the approach taken to engage with stakeholders during the development of the
strategic plans have been observed to ensure equitable involvement. Also updates following
the assurance meetings with NHS England area team relating to performance activity and
findings from external inspections and/or peers assessments have been r eported
accordingly.
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There is a formal committee structure which presents an ov erview of the statutory
governance and operational management meeting groups. All have separate terms of
reference to define the work remit and accountability reporting lines.

4.2.7 Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by which
the NHS handles information about patients, the public and employees, in particular person
identifiable data and i nformation. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process provides
assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to individuals that
personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.
We place high importance on ensuring that there are robust information governance systems
and processes in place to help protect personal and corporate information. We have
established an information governance management framework and have developed
information governance policies and pr ocedures in line with the information governance
toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual mandatory information governance
training and hav e implemented a staff information governance handbook to ensure
employees are aware of their roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and i nvestigation of serious incidents.
We are developing information risk assessment and m anagement procedures and a
programme will be es tablished to fully embed an information risk culture throughout the
organisation. It is a requirement for NHS public sector organisations to achieve a level 2.
As a CCG we have achieved Level 2.

4.2.8 Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory level of compliance with the information governance toolkit
assessment. The evidence used has also been independently audited, with ‘significant
assurance’ given, prior to submission.
There have been no S erious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches, and no
other incidents that were required to be reported to the Information Commissioner.
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Information Governance Overview for SCCCG & VRCCG
Data Protection Act 1998
Access to Health Records Act 1990
• Freedom of Information Act 2000
• Access to Medical Reports Act 1988
• Health & Social Care Act 2012

Health & Social Care Information
Centre

•

Caldicott Guardian

•

A senior person responsible for protecting the
confidentiality of patient and service-user information
and enabling appropriate information-sharing.
National Register
HSCIC

SCCCG – Judith Thorley
VRCCG – Dr Nichola Bishop

Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO)

NHS
Information
Governance
(IG)

Information Governance Toolkit V11

A senior person accountable for fostering a culture for
protecting and using data. Provides a focal point for
managing information risk and incidents and
concerned with the management if information assets.
SCCCG – Fiona Field
VRCCG – Tracy Parker-Priest
CCG Business Functions
• Commissioning Team
• Practice Engagement Team
• Local Delivery Team
• Quality Team
• Contract & Finance Team
• Medicine Management
• Safeguarding Team

CCG Toolkit Submission Requirements
st

Submission Themes (31 March)
• Information Governance Management
• Confidentiality & Data Protection Assurance
• Information Security Assurance
• Clinical Information Assurance

•
•
•
•
•
•

Data Flow
Mapping

Information
Asset Register

IG Policies
Information Governance Policy
Information Governance Strategy
Freedom of Information Policy
Confidentiality & Data Protection Policy
Corporate Records & Retention Policy
Subject Access Request Policy

•
•
•
•

IG Statement of
Compliance
N3

NHS Records
Management

ICT Policies
IT Security Policy
IT Joint Primary Care Registration Authority Policy
IT Network Infrastructure Policy
IT Laptop Devices & Remote Access Policy

Privacy Impact
Assessments
PIAs

•
•
•
•
•

Mandatory IG
Training

Registrations
Fair Processing Notice on Website
Information Commissioner Registration
NHS LA Scheme
Accredited Safe Haven (ASH) (S251)
Information Sharing Protocols

4.2.9 Pension Obligations
As an em ployer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme
rules, and that member pension scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with
the timescales detailed in the regulations.

4.2.10 Equality, Diversity and Human Rights Obligations
Control measures are in place to ensure that the clinical commissioning group complies with
the required public sector equality duty set out in the Equality Act 2010.

4.2.11 Sustainable Development Obligations
The clinical commissioning group is required to report its progress in delivering against
sustainable development indicators. We are planning to develop plans to assess risks,
enhance our performance and r educe our impact, including against carbon reduction and
climate change adaptation objectives via a S ustainable Development Management Plan
(SDMP) during 2015/16. This includes establishing mechanisms to embed social and
environmental sustainability across policy development, business planning and i n
commissioning. During 2015/16 we will be s etting out our commitments as a socially
responsible employer.
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4.2.12 Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use
of Resources
In order to obtain maximum benefit for patients from finite resources, we regularly review our
expenditure to ensure that it gets value for money. This is achieved by improving
commissioning to ensure that different services, programmes and i nitiatives work together
effectively. In addition, benchmarking tools are used to compare costs with other
organisations, and also by comparing costs of services commissioned against health
outcomes. These tools help us to improve the efficiency of the services provided to patients.
We strive to ensure that budget holders are clear of the responsibility that they have and the
decisions that they can make aligned to the Scheme of Delegation. E nsuring that the
ownership of budgets is not just held in the finance and c ontracting team helps to ensure
that there is wider organisational understanding of our collective responsibility to use all of
our resources effectively and efficiently. Applying a strong governance and assurance
framework around this further reinforces the control mechanism and m anages the risks
effectively whilst also facilitating an approach that improves outcomes for our local
population.

4.2.13 Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk
Management and Internal Control
As Accounting Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control within the clinical commissioning group.

4.2.14 Capacity to Handle Risk
The following key areas describe our approach:
•

Leadership is given to the risk management process – Managing risk is everyone’s
business within the CCG. We also have developed clear lines of communication for
the identification and mitigation of risk via our Risk Management Framework that is
regularly reported and reviewed at both Governance and Audit Committee and
escalated as appropriate to Governing Body. Our Executives have clear
responsibilities and understand their role in implementing the effective approach
towards how the CCG handles risk. Risks are regularly reviewed at programme
boards, by the Senior Management Team and the Executive Team, with risks being
escalated as appropriate. The introduction of a new Programme Management Office
will give additional clarity to risk management, with clear reporting lines from project
and programme level through to senior management, Clinical Commissioning
Executive and on wards to Governance & Audit Committee and Quality &
Performance Committee and ultimately Governing Body.

•

Our Staff – Our staff are trained and equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to
their authority and duties. We have provided them with guidance and communicate
any direct learning and learning from good practice. This training has been provided
by Merseyside Internal Audit Agency. Additional training is planned in 2015-16.

85

4.2.15 Review of Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and t he executive managers and c linical leads within the clinical
commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on per formance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports.
The Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principles
objectives have been reviewed.
The Governing Body and t he Governance and Audit Committee have advised me on t he
implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control.
Where appropriate they have provided advice and a pl an to address weaknesses and t o
ensure that continuous improvement of the system is in place. T hey have advised me on
the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control.
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical
commissioning group, the Director of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning group’s system of
risk management, governance and internal control. The Director of Internal Audit concluded
that:
Significant Assurance can be given that that there is a generally sound system of internal
control designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, and that controls are generally
being applied consistently. However, some weaknesses in the design or inconsistent
application of controls could put the achievement of a particular objective at risk.
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:

Assurance Framework
An Assurance Framework has been established which is designed and operating to meet
the requirements of the Annual Governance Statement and provide reasonable assurance
that there is an effective system of internal control to manage the principal risks identified by
the organisation.
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Access to Services

Transparency and
Governance

Patient Participation and
Customer Service

Informed Commissioning

Higher Standards

•Significant assurance in respect of the Core Financial
systems since the transfer to a fully in house finance team.
•Conflicts of Interest review which confirmed improvements in
the control environment.
•Risk Maturity evaluation which found a proactive operational
risk management culture
•Examination of the CCG's responce to the Francis, Berwick, Keogh
and Winterbourne recommendations and findings.
•Significant assurance in respect of Information Governance
systems and controls.
•CCG plans and actions to improve the efficiency of Personal Health
Budget arrangements
•Recognition of the CCG development needs to improve Programme
and Project Management arrangements

Contribution to Governance, Risk Management and Internal Control enhancements:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Detailed insight into the overall Governance and Assurance processes gained
from liaison throughout the year with the Executive Team, facilitation of
Governing Body sessions at the start of the year and support to develop and
embed risk management.
Involvement with the organisation in respect of advice and guidance relating to
Governance and regular review of Governing Body papers.
Facilitation of committee effectiveness assessments for the Governance and Audit
Committee.
Ongoing discussion with lead officers, Lay Members and the membership
throughout the year.
Effective utilisation of internal audit including in year changes to the audit plan in
respect of support for Co - Commissioning and conflicts of interest.
Follow up, demonstrating significant progress against recommendations to improve
systems and controls.
Provision of MIAA briefings including Duty of Candour, Investigations,
Regulation, Sustainability, Human Factors, Safe Staffing and Fit and Proper
Person Test.
Involvement through MIAA events, including CCG Lay Member Learning Series and
Audit Committee Chairs.
Engagement with MIAA Insights benchmarking and outcome reporting,
including CCG Assurance Frameworks, and Gifts and Hospitality.

Performance against Plan
The Internal Audit Plan has been delivered in accordance with the schedule agreed with the
Audit Committee at the start of the financial year. This position has been reported within the
progress reports across the financial year, with the final report concluding completion of the
Internal Audit Plan with the exception of the Better Care Fund review being completed
jointly with local authority audit colleagues.

87

Risk Based Reviews
The audit assignment element of the Opinion is limited to the scope and objective of each of
the individual reviews. Detailed information on the limitations to the reviews has been
provided within the individual audit reports and through the Audit Committee
Progress reports throughout the year. The schedule below provides a summary of the
reviews and overall objectives contributing to this element of the Opinion.
MIAA Outcomes and delivery
Audit reviews were conducted throughout the year, according to the agreed plan. Progress
was reported throughout the year, but a summary of assurances given is as follows:
None of the reviews received a high level of assurance; equally none received ‘no
assurance’.
The following reviews received significant assurance:
•
•
•
•
•

Financial Systems
Conflicts of Interest
Response to Francis, Berwick, Keogh & Winterbourne
Information Governance
IT Business Continuity

And the following reviews received limited assurance:
•
•
•

Outcomes Based Commissioning
Personal Health Budgets
Programme Management

In addition to the newly commissioned reviews, follow up work was carried out during the
course of the year and good progress was confirmed in all of the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Financial Systems
Contract Management
Governing Body Reporting
CSU Contract Management
QIPP
Safeguarding
Intermediate Care
Performance Management

MIAA also supports the CCG in strengthening arrangements in governance, risk
management and i nternal control, for example carrying out a r isk maturity review and
offering advice on developing governance arrangements for co-commissioning.

4.2.16 Data Quality
The Clinical Commissioning Group continues to develop and improve the integrated
performance report which includes service quality, contract performance, financial
performance and pr ogress against Quality, Innovation, Prevention and Productivity (QIPP)
initiatives.
Our North West Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) provides a Business Intelligence service
to the Clinical Commissioning Group that supports the management of contract and ot her
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data and the production of performance information. This service includes data validation
and contract challenges which are then reflected in the reported positions. Our Primary
Care Team also work closely with the Business Intelligence (BI) team to develop quarterly
data packs for our membership practices. The packs provide a CGG and practice level view
of planned care referral trends, outpatient attendances and g ives a br eakdown of the
specialities referred into and t he originator (from General practice, Consultant, AHP, other
healthcare professionals, self-referrals) making the referral. Our Practices are then able to
request patient level data if they wish to undertake any investigative work, such as pathway
audits. The BI Team and t he Primary Care Team are also developing a P rimary Care
Dashboard, which will draw relevant practice based information from a v ariety of sources,
into one area, for peer and benchmarking comparisons and identification future
commissioning opportunities.
Our Quality and Performance Committee has continued, throughout 2014/15, to review the
business intelligence data in in providing assurances to the Governing Body and its
Committees, so that informed and correct decisions can be made.
It is important to note that during 2014/15 the CCG has experienced significant challenges
with the delivery of strong Business Intelligence offer from the CSU. This has impacted on
our ability to fully discharge our duties or to fully demonstrate the outcomes of the changes
that we have put in place. This risk has been managed through the CSU SLA discussions
and has been highlighted to both the Governance and Audit committee and the Governing
Body. Clear action plans have been agreed and SLA service improvement notices have
been served. The CCG was required to engage external support in order to help drive
improvement in the performance of our CSU.

4.2.17 Business Critical Models
I confirm an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide quality assurance
of business critical models, in line with the recommendations in the Macpherson report.
Our business critical models and processes (so far) have been identified as risk assurance
and risk management, financial and resources control, contracting and procurement
processes, policy planning, forecasting and c ommissioning of health services, quality
assurance processes, business management and corporate processes and governance
arrangements.
The CCG has embedded effective Quality assurance (QA) within governance processes
during 2013/14 and has continued this work throughout 2014/15. These are grouped under
three headings:
•
•
•

Culture
Capacity
Control

Culture
Clear leadership from Governing Body members and Membership Assembly to accept risk
and develop a ‘no blame’ culture and willingness to learn lessons. The ‘no blame’ culture
encourages transparency to collaborate and l earn from our mistakes e.g. the current risk
assurance framework has been adopted by the Governing Body and is owned by the whole
organisation at all levels.
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Capacity
We have used expertise in-house through our clinical leadership model and expert skills of
our staff i.e. safeguarding/financial and contracting skills. However, we have recognised our
limitations of capacity and used external expertise to ensure quality assurance i.e.
procurement from CSU, internal audits from MIAA, external clinical reviews from AQuA and
Utilisation Management, review skills on business processes from integral Solutions re CSU.
Control
We have a model of clinical leadership for quality and specific commissioning programmes
i.e. Ageing Well, Starting Well, Living Well, Quality areas. This gives strong accountability to
the Membership and the Governing Body.
The risk assurance framework is owned by the Governing Body on behalf of our
membership to ensure mitigation of risk and scrutiny of relevant issues. Risks are identified
by all members of the CCG, owned by Programme Leads and corporate risks are presented
to Governance and Audit Committee (and Governing Body) on a regular basis.
We have recently used a model of QA for the CCG whilst developing the Primary Care
CQUIN for 2014/15, clinical ownership being a key element for the success of the scheme.

1. Scope,
specify,
design

2. Build and
populate

4. Deliver
and use

3. Test

1. Scope – new ideas to deliver CCG priorities scoped by lead clinicians and managers
2. Build – presented to membership leads to populate with measureable outcomes
3. Test – re-presented
observations/comments

to

membership

as

detailed

outline

CQUIN

for

4. Deliver – became live in April 2014 for delivery

The eight recommendations from the Macphearson report offer us a r obust checklist to
ensure our quality assurance processes meet good practice standards.
Recommendation 1
We have built QA into our risk assurance framework.
Recommendation 2
We have used specialist staff appropriately for QA and developing the CCG processes.
Recommendation 3
Clinical leaders/managers have been identified already for CCG priority areas.
Recommendation 4
The annual Report in the Accounting Officer governance statement confirms that appropriate
QA frameworks are in place. Business critical models are identified within the statement and
publically available.
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Recommendation 5
The CCG has addressed the culture, capacity, capability and c ontrol elements of QA to
create a positive environment.
Recommendation 6
The CCG has further work to do in 14/15 to develop a plan to embed effective
processes/guidance and doc umentation to underpin QA within the organisation (including
handling public funds properly).
Recommendation 7
To develop a cross-departmental group (clinicians, managers, lay members) to share best
practice.
Recommendation 8
The CCG to assess its progress after 12 months from April 2014.

4.2.18 Discharge of Statutory Functions
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the
Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert external legal
input, to ensure compliance with the all-relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed
the matters reserved for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.
In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated
legislative and r egulations. As a result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the
legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is
responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and pow er has been clearly allocated to a l ead Director.
Directors have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability and capacity
to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties.

4.2.19 Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified.

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
NHS South Cheshire CCG
Date: 21st May 2015
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The Audit Commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG
put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2015.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our
risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view
on whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements
to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria
published by the Audit Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all
significant respects, NHS South Cheshire CCG put in place proper arrangements to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ending 31 March 2015.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS South Cheshire
CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and
the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Robin Baker
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Appointed Auditor
Royal Liver Building, Liverpool. L3 1PS
26 May 2015
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2015
Note
Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net operating expenditure before interest

2013-14
£000

2,838
206,298
(1,021)
208,115

2,191
195,930
(508)
197,612

Investment Revenue
Other (gains)/losses
Finance costs
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

208,115

197,612

Net (gain)/loss on transfers by absorption
Total Net Expenditure for the year

208,115

197,612

4.1.1
5
2

1,949
2,061
(33)
3,977

1,744
1,625
(11)
3,358

4.1.1
5
2

889
204,237
(988)
204,138

447
194,305
(497)
194,255

Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs before interest
Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits
Operating Expenses
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure before interest

Other Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Impairments and reversals
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant & equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangibles
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Movements in other reserves
Net gain/(loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain/(loss) on assets held for sale
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures
Reclassification Adjustments
On disposal of available for sale financial assets
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

4.1.1
5
2

2014-15
£000

2014-15
£000
208,115

2013-14
£000
197,613
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2015
31 March 2014

31 March 2015
Note
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment property
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Total non-current assets
Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

8
9

9
10

Non-current assets held for sale

£000

£000
66
66
1,632
(808)
824

1,433
307
1,740

-

-

Total current assets

824

1,740

Total assets

891

1,740

(12,247)
(12,247)

(12,752)
(12,752)

(11,357)

(11,012)

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities

11

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities
Borrowings
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities

-

-

Assets less Liabilities

(11,357)

(11,012)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Charitable Reserves
Total taxpayers' equity:

(11,357)
(11,357)

(11,012)
(11,012)

The notes on pages 102 to 126 form part of this statement
The financial statements on pages 98 to 101 were approved by the Governing Body on 21 May 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

Simon Whitehouse
Accountable Officer
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2015
General fund

Revaluation
reserve

Other reserves

Total reserves

£000

£000

£000

£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Balance at 1 April 2014

(11,012)

-

-

(11,012)

Transfer between reserves in respect of assets transferred from closed NHS bodies
Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2014

(11,012)

-

-

(11,012)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(208,115)

Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

(208,115)
-

-

(208,115)

-

-

(208,115)

Net funding

207,771

-

-

207,771

Balance at 31 March 2015

(11,357)

-

-

(11,357)

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution

-

-

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year

General fund
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other reserves
£000

Total reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Balance at 1 April 2013
Transfer of assets and liabilities from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted NHS Commissioning Board balance at 1 April 2013
Changes in NHS Commissioning Board taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and equipment
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of intangible assets
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of financial assets
Total revaluations against revaluation reserve

(197,613)

(197,613)
-

-

(197,613)

-

-

Net funding

186,601

-

-

186,601

Balance at 31 March 2014

(11,012)

-

-

(11,012)

Net gain (loss) on available for sale financial assets
Net gain (loss) on revaluation of assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals
Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
Movements in other reserves
Transfers between reserves
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
Reclassification adjustment on disposal of available for sale financial assets
Transfers by absorption to (from) other bodies
Reserves eliminated on dissolution
Net Recognised NHS Commissioning Board Expenditure for the Financial Year

-

(197,613)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2015
Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments and reversals
Movement due to transfer by Modified Absorption
Other gains (losses) on foreign exchange
Donated assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Government granted assets received credited to revenue but non-cash
Interest paid
Release of PFI deferred credit
Other Gains & Losses
Finance Costs
Unwinding of Discounts
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
Less movements in capital payables relating to items not passing through the SoCNE
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities

9
11
11

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
(Payments) for intangible assets
(Payments) for investments with the Department of Health
(Payments) for other financial assets
(Payments) for financial assets (LIFT)
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale: intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of investments with the Department of Health
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets (LIFT)
Loans made in respect of LIFT
Loans repaid in respect of LIFT
Rental revenue
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities

-

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year

(197,613)
(1,433)
12,752
(186,294)
-

0

0

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Parliamentarty Funding Received
Other loans received
Other loans repaid
Capital element of payments in respect of finance leases and on Statement of Financial Position PFI and LIFT
Capital grants and other capital receipts
Capital receipts surrendered
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year

(208,115)
(199)
(506)
(66)
(208,886)

-

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

2013-14
£000

2014-15
£000

10

(208,886)

(186,294)

207,771
207,771

186,601
186,601

(1,115)

307

307

-

-

-

(808)

307

181,338
26,433

165,991
21,726
(1,116)
186,601

Reconciliation of Cash Drawings to Net Parliamentary Funding
Cash Drawn
Total payment for the year paid by BSA on behalf of NHS South Cheshire CCG
Less 2012/13 Partially Completed Spells Accrual
Net Funding Received

207,771
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts
issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2014-15
issued by the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the
extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting
Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the
particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by
the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion
of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another
public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If services will continue to be provided
the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Acquisitions & Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease
entirely. They are not considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM
Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under
merger accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in the period in which they took place, with
no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give rise to income and
expenditure entries.

1.5

Pooled Budgets
The Clinical Commissioning Group had a pooled budget with Cheshire East Council. Funds were pooled under S75 of the NHS Act 2006 for Adults with Learning
Disabilities activities. After a joint decision by its members the pooled budget disbanded from 1st April 2014
The pool was hosted by Cheshire East Council. As a commissioner of healthcare services, the Clinical Commissioning Group made contributions to the pool,
which were then used to purchase healthcare services. The Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure of the pool as determined by the pooled budget agreement.
A memorandum statement is provided at note 13

1.5.1 Former Learning Disabilities Pool
As a result of the disbanding of the LD Pool, it is recognised that funding streams previously within the pool need to be separated and that the appropriate body
continue to fund the patients going forward. Consequently, NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG and NHS South Cheshire CCG have entered into negotiations with
Cheshire East Council regarding funding health funded LD cases retrospectively in 2014/15 and going forward. An accrual has been made for NHS South
Cheshire CCG of £757,974 to cover the settlement of cases for 2014/15.
1.6

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are
continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of applying the clinical
commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1.6.2 Contracting outturn estimates
The forecast out turn for provider contracts are estimated based on the activity information available in conjunction with regular discussions with providers to
reach an agreed estimate of the contracting over/under performance. The actual activity information for providers will be available in June 2015.
1.6.3 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the clinical commissioning group’s accounting policies that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
1.6.4 Prescribing estimates
There is an average six week delay in receiving from the Prescription Pricing Department (PPD) the costs of prescriptions dispensed and a forecast year position
by practice. For 2014/15, the PPD has indicated that the final March 2015 figures will therefore not be available until mid May 2015. The figures included in
these accounts are therefore based on the actual figures received for Janury 2015, and an estimate for February and March 2015 (£4,861,813).
1.6.5 Partially Completed Spells Estimates
The cost of Partially Completed Spells are calculated by NHS Providers. These costs will be based on episodes of care that span over the year end (i.e. the
episode of care begins in 2014/15, but is not completed until 2015/16). Estimated costs for partially completed spells for NHS bodies have been included only for
those organisations that include them in their own statutory accounts.
1.6.6 The Maternity Pathway Payment System
The Clinical Commissioning Group is obliged to make payment to NHS providers covering the whole of the maternity pathway, at the point at which the patient
presents for treatment. This results in an amount being paid to NHS providers ahead of the completed episode of care, and a resultant prepayment for the Clinical
Commissioning Group. The estimated prepayment for Maternity Pathways for NHS bodies has been included only for those organisations that include them in
their own statutory accounts.
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1.7

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is measured at the fair value of the consideration
receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

1.8

Employee Benefits

1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but
not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted
to carry forward leave into the following period.
1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS
employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be
run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it
were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to
the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
Some employees are members of the Local Government Superannuation Scheme, which is a defined benefit pension scheme. The scheme assets and liabilities
attributable to those employees can be identified and are recognised in the clinical commissioning group’s accounts. The assets are measured at fair value and
the liabilities at the present value of the future obligations. The increase in the liability arising from pensionable service earned during the year is recognised
within operating expenses. The expected gain during the year from scheme assets is recognised within finance income. The interest cost during the year arising
from the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities is recognised within finance costs. Actuarial gains and losses during the year are recognised in the
General Reserve and reported as an item of other comprehensive net expenditure.
1.9

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the
consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation, which occurs
when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10

Property, Plant & Equipment

1.10.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
·                It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
·                It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the clinical commissioning group;
·                It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
·                The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
·                The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
·                Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
·                Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate
assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
1.10.2 Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the clinical commissioning group’s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different from those that would be determined at the end of
the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
·                Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
·                Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.
HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern equivalent assets and, where it would meet the
location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but
not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation
commences when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different from fair value.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the same asset previously recognised in
expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a
loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve
for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and
losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.
1.10.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure
restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to
operating expenses.
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1.11

Intangible Assets

1.11.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale separately from the rest of the clinical commissioning group’s
business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only:
·                When it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the clinical commissioning group;
·                Where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably; and,
·                Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at fair value. Software that is integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system,
is capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software that is not integral to the operation of hardware, for example application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised but is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:
·                The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use;
·                The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it;
·                The ability to sell or use the intangible asset;
·                How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential;
·                The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and sell or use it; and,
·                The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
1.11.2 Measurement
The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially
met. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at fair value by reference to an active market, or, where no active market exists, at amortised
replacement cost (modern equivalent assets basis), indexed for relevant price increases, as a proxy for fair value. Internally-developed software is held at historic
cost to reflect the opposing effects of increases in development costs and technological advances.
1.12

Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less
any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The
estimated useful life of an asset is the period over which the clinical commissioning group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset.
This is specific to the clinical commissioning group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and residual values are
reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the clinical commissioning group checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible non-current assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a
loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve
to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of
economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the
impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.13

Donated Assets
Donated non-current assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt, with a matching credit to Income. They are valued, depreciated and impaired as
described above for purchased assets. Gains and losses on revaluations, impairments and sales are as described above for purchased assets. Deferred income
is recognised only where conditions attached to the donation preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.14

Government Grants
The value of assets received by means of a government grant are credited directly to income. Deferred income is recognised only where conditions attached to
the grant preclude immediate recognition of the gain.

1.16

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

1.16.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction
of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the
clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and
subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance
leases.
1.16.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the clinical commissioning group’s net investment in the leases.
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the clinical commissioning group’s net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
1.17

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the first-in first-out cost formula. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to
fair value due to the high turnover of stocks.

1.18

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments
that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the
clinical commissioning group’s cash management.
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1.19

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the
clinical commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised
as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
·                Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%
·                Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%
·                Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%
·                All employee early departures: 1.30%
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset
if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid
expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The
measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily
entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.

1.20

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation
Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively
responsible for all clinical negligence cases the legal liability remains with the clinical commissioning group.

1.21

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The clinical commissioning group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under
which the clinical commissioning group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return, receives assistance with the costs of claims
arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they
become due.

1.22

Continuing healthcare risk pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the
scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.23

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not
probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is
disclosed unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is
probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.

1.24

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables,
when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
·                Held to maturity investments;
·                Available for sale financial assets; and,
·                Loans and receivables.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

1.24.1 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot
be ascertained, are treated as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in
calculating the clinical commissioning group’s surplus or deficit for the year. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest earned on the financial asset.
[Disclose how fair value is determined.]
1.24.2 Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity, and there is a positive intention and
ability to hold to maturity. After initial recognition, they are held at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised
using the effective interest method.
1.24.3 Available For Sale Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or that do not fall within any of the other three
financial asset classifications. They are measured at fair value with changes in value taken to the revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses.
Accumulated gains or losses are recycled to surplus/deficit on de-recognition.
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1.24.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition,
they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of
the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the clinical commissioning group assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at ‘fair value through profit and
loss’ are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
1.25

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has
been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value.

1.25.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
·                The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less cumulative amortisation; and,
·                The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
1.25.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot
be ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the
clinical commissioning group’s surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest payable on the financial liability.
1.26

Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is
charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.27

Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts since the clinical commissioning group has no
beneficial interest in them.

1.28

Losses & Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their
nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are
divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made
good through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal
revenue expenditure).

1.29

Retrospective Continuing Health Care Claims
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the
scheme clinical commissioning group contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to settle the claims.

1.30

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2014-15, all of which are subject to
consultation:
·                IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
·                IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement
·                IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts
·                IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers
The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2014-15, were they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits
Patient transport services
Prescription fees and charges
Dental fees and charges
Education, training and research
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: NHS
Charitable and other contributions to revenue expenditure: non-NHS
Receipt of donations for capital acquisitions: NHS Charity
Receipt of Government grants for capital acquisitions
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Income generation
Rental revenue from finance leases
Rental revenue from operating leases
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

2014-15
Total

2014-15
Admin

2014-15
Programme

2013-14
Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

27
38
859
98
1,021

-

0
33
0
33

27
38
825
98
988

-

4
464
40
508

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund
Increase in Non-patient care services relates to income received as a result of hosting a shared service with 4 neighbouring CCGs

3. Revenue
2014-15
Total
£000
From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

816
205
1,021

2014-15
Admin
£000
33
33

2014-15
Programme
£000
783
205
988

2013-14
Total
£000

416
92
508

107

NHS South Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2014-15
4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1.1 Employee benefits

2014-15

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000

Total
£000

Admin
Other

Total

£000

£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Other

Total

£000

£000

Programme
Permanent
Other
Employees
£000
£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Other employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2,344
186
308
2,838

2,271
186
308
2,765

74
74

1,605
124
220
1,949

1,552
124
220
1,897

53
53

740
62
88
889

719
62
88
868

21
21

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

2,838

2,765

74

1,949

1,897

53

889

868

21

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

2,838

2,765

74

1,949

1,897

53

889

868

21

Employee benefits 2013-14

2013-14
Total
£000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Other post-employment benefits
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

1,812
155
224
2,191

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2)
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs

2,191

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

2,191

Total
Permanent
Employees
£000
1,759
155
224
2,138

Other

Total

£000

£000
53
53

1,447
121
176
1,744

2,138

53

1,744

2,138

53

1,744

Admin
Permanent
Employees
£000
1,394
121
176
1,691

Other

Total

£000

£000

Programme
Permanent
Other
Employees
£000
£000
365
34
48
447

53
53

365
34
48
447

-

1,691

53

447

447

-

1,691

53

447

447

-
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4.2 Average number of people employed
2014-15
Permanently
Number

Total
Number
Medical and dental
Ambulance staff
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Social Care Staff
Other
Total

2
47
7
5
61

2
44
6
5
57

-

-

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects

2013-14
Total
Number

Other
Number
3
1
4

1
36
1
3
41

-

-

.

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
2014-15
Number
Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

2013-14
Number
295
61
5

2014-15
Number
Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds

222
41
5

2013-14
Number
-

£000
Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year

£000

-

-

Ill health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension Scheme

4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

2014-15
Compulsory redundancies
Number
£
-

Less than £10,000
£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
£100,001 to £150,000
£150,001 to £200,000
Over £200,001
Total

Departures where special payments
have been made
Number
£
-

-

2014-15
Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

2014-15
Total
Number
-

£
-

-

Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT approval*
Total

Other agreed departures
Number
£
-

-
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4.5

Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of the benefits payable under these provisions can be found on
the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of
State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS Body of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting
date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in
intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

4.5.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the
previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably
robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2014, updated
to 31 March 2015 with summary global member and accounting data.
In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury
have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England
and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The
Stationery Office.
4.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking into account its recent demographic
experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 31 March 2012.
The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice
of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
4.5.3 Scheme Provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provides defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide only, and is not intended to detail all the
benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met before these benefits can be obtained:
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of the best of the last three years pensionable pay
for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme
Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount
permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as “pension commutation”.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve
months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index
(RPI).
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through
illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is
payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to the employer.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free
Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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5. Operating expenses
2014-15
Total
£000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Inventories written down
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairments and reversals of property, plant and equipment
Impairments and reversals of intangible assets
Impairments and reversals of financial assets
·          Assets carried at amortised cost
·          Assets carried at cost
·          Available for sale financial assets
Impairments and reversals of non-current assets held for sale
Impairments and reversals of investment properties
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Internal audit services
·          Other services
General dental services and personal dental services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
General ophthalmic services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Grants to other public bodies
Clinical negligence
Research and development (excluding staff costs)
Education and training
Change in discount rate
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

2014-15
Admin
£000

2014-15
Programme
£000

2013-14
Total
£000

2,451
387
2,838

1,562
387
1,949

889
0
889

1,802
389
2,191

2,002
114,557
34,261
0
20,650
156
984
646
305
445
277
820
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
67

1,014
39
49
0
0
156
0
2
304
128
20
129
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
67

987
114,518
34,212
0
20,650
0
984
644
0
317
258
691
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,413
110,569
33,199
0
18,432
156
765
1,363
89
180
203
234
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
73

0
0
0
28,473
26
15
1,452
271
462
0
0
81
0
0
289
60
206,298

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
118
0
0
0
36
0
0
0
0
2,061

0
0
0
28,473
26
15
1,452
153
462
0
0
45
0
0
289
60
204,237

0
0
0
27,577
0
6
934
151
501
0
0
27
0
0
0
58
195,930

209,136

4,010

205,126

198,121
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6. Better Payment Practice Code
6.1 Measure of compliance
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation
Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation
Total

2014-15
Number

2013-14
Number

2014-15
£000

2013-14
£000

5,153
4,881
94.72%

27,656
26,106
94.40%

3,734
3,500
93.73%

20,331
18,652
91.74%

2,289
1,753
76.58%

152,240
150,639
98.95%

1,702
1,343
78.91%

144,523
142,248
98.43%

2013-14
£000

2014-15
£000
-

-
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7. Operating Leases
7.1 As lessee
7.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
Land
£000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

Buildings
£000
-

806
806

2013-14
Total
£000

2014-15
Total
£000

Other
£000
12
12

224
224

818
818

The Clinical Commissioning Group occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Ltd. In 2014/15 charges were based on actual occupation including void
spaces, 2013/14 comparatives were on an agreed transitional rent based on annual property cost's.
While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental charge for future years, including void spaces, has not yet been
agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.
7.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
Land
£000
Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

Buildings
£000
-

-

2013-14
Total
£000

2014-15
Total
£000

Other
£000
12
25
37

-

12
25
37
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8. Property, plant and equipment

2014-15

2014/15
Information
technology
£000

2013/14

Total
£000

Total
£000

Cost or Valuation at 1st April

-

-

-

Addition of assets under construction and payments on account
Additions purchased
Cost/Valuation At 31st March

66
66

66
66

-

Depreciation 1st April

-

-

-

Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31st March

-

-

-

Net Book Value at 31 March

66

66

-

Purchased
Donated
Government Granted
Total at 31st March

66
66

66
66

-

Owned
Held on finance lease
On-SOFP Lift contracts
PFI residual: interests

66
-

66
-

-

Total at 31st March

66

66

-

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant & Equipment

2014/15

Asset financing:

Information
technology
£000's

2013/14

Total
£000's

Total
£000's

Balance at 1st April

-

-

-

Revaluation gains
Impairments
Release to general fund
Other movements
At 31 March

-

-

-
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8 Property, plant and equipment cont'd

8.2 Economic lives
Minimum Life
(years)
Buildings excluding dwellings
Dwellings
Plant & machinery
Transport equipment
Information technology
Furniture & fittings

Maximum Life
(Years)
0
0
0
0
5
0

0
0
0
0
5
0
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9. Trade and other receivables

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS receivables: Capital
NHS prepayments and accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS receivables: Capital
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Private finance initiative and other public private partnership arrangement prepayments
and accrued income

Current
2014-15
£000
485
849
195
127
(25)

-

-

-

-

-

Interest receivables
Finance lease receivables
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables
Total Trade & other receivables

2
1,632

Total current and non current

1,632

9.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired

Non-current
2013-14
£000
385
660
389
5
(6)

-

-

-

1,433

-

1,433

2013-14
£000

2014-15
£000

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

9.2 Provision for impairment of receivables

Current
2013-14
£000

Non-current
2014-15
£000

310
310

500
500

2013-14
£000

2014-15
£000

Balance at 1 April 2014

-

-

Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
(Increase) decrease in receivables impaired
Transfer (to) from other public sector body
Balance at 31 March 2015

-

-
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10. Cash and cash equivalents
2014-15
£000
Balance at 1 April 2014
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2015
Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash with Commercial banks
Cash in hand
Current investments
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position
Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service
Bank overdraft: Commercial banks
Total bank overdrafts
Balance at 31 March 2015
Patients’ money held by the clinical commissioning group, not included above

307
(1,115)
(808)

(808)
(808)

2013-14
£000

307
307

34
273
307

(808)

307

-

-
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11. Trade and other payables

Current
2014-15
£000

Interest payable
NHS payables: revenue
NHS payables: capital
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS payables: capital
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
VAT
Tax
Payments received on account
Other payables
Total Trade & Other Payables

2,368
58
647
6,102
8
2,849
52
55
108
12,247

Total current and non-current

12,247

Current
2013-14
£000

Non-current
2014-15
£000
-

Non-current
2013-14
£000

3,171
667
6,947
39
1,928
12,752

-

12,752
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12.

Financial instruments

12.1

Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a body
faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.
Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting
standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated
by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and
internal auditors.

12.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and
sterling based. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has no overseas operations. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and therefore has low exposure to
currency rate fluctuations.
12.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning Group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings are
for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The clinical
commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
12.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS Clinical Commissioning Group has low
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other
12.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by
Parliament. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group is not,
therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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12. Financial instruments continued
12.2 Financial assets
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2014-15
£000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2013-14
£000

Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

Loans and
Receivables
2014-15
£000
-

Loans and
Receivables
2013-14
£000

Total
2014-15
£000
-

485
195
(808)
2
(126)

-

Available for
Sale
2014-15
£000

-

-

Available for Sale
2013-14
£000
-

485
195
(808)
2
(126)

Total
2013-14
£000

-

385
389
307
1,081

-

385
389
307
1,081

12.3 Financial liabilities
At ‘fair value
through profit
and loss’
2014-15
£000
Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2015

At ‘fair value
through profit and
loss’
2013-14
£000

Embedded derivatives
Payables:
·          NHS
·          Non-NHS
Private finance initiative, LIFT and finance lease obligations
Other borrowings
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2015

Other
2014-15
£000

-

Total
2014-15
£000
-

3,073
9,067
12,141

Other
2013-14
£000

3,073
9,067
12,141

Total
2013-14
£000
-

3,838
6,986
10,824

3,838
6,986
10,824
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13. South Cheshire CCG Pooled budget

Memorandum Account for the period 1st April to 31st March
Funding

2014-15
Total
£000's

Cash
£000's

Cheshire East Local Authority
NHS East Cheshire CCG
NHS South Cheshire CCG
LDDF Capital funding
Carried Forward Position

-

Total Funding

2013-14
Overheads
Grants
£000's
£000's

Total
£000's

27,445
3,019
2,678
-

572
-

-

28,017
3,019
2,678
-

33,142

572

-

33,714

Expenditure
Total
£000's

Cash
£000's

Partnership Trust
Nurse Advisor
New Health Network SLA
Secure Commissioning
Health Contracts
Transport
Other
LDDF Fund
LDDF Capital expenditure
Overheads
External Social Care
CHC contribution - Other CCG
CHC contribution - South CCG
CHC contribution - East CCG
Management
Internal Provision

-

Total Expenditure

3,760
146
1,995
4,795
210
20,225
(293)
(578)
(618)
1,092
9,356
40,090

Overheads
£000's

Grants
£000's

572
572

Total
£000's
-

3,760
146
1,995
4,795
210
572
20,225
(293)
(578)
(618)
1,092
9,356
40,662

13.1 Pooled Budget Statement of Financial Position
2014-15

2013-14

TOTAL POOLED
BUDGET
£000's
Funding Share (£)
Funding Share %
Current Liabilities
Creditors
Current Assets
Debtors and Prepayments
Cash Surplus

-

Cheshire East
Local Authority
£000's

NHS East
Cheshire CCG
£000's

NHS South
Cheshire CCG
£000's

TOTAL POOLED
BUDGET
£000's

28,017
83%

3,019
9%

2,678
8%

33,714

-

2,113

308

273

2,694

-

29
2,084

308

273

29
2,665

0%

The payables and cash in notes 10 and 11 of these accounts include the following balances in 2013-14
relating to the pooled budget
Payables - (273,000)
Cash - £273,000
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14. Intra-government and other balances
Current
Receivables
2014-15
£000
Balances with:
·          Other Central Government bodies
·          Local Authorities
Balances with NHS bodies:
·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·          Public corporations and trading funds
·          Bodies external to Government
Total balances at 31 March 2015

Non-current
Receivables
2014-15
£000

Balances with NHS bodies:
·          NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·          NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·          Public corporations and trading funds
·          Bodies external to Government
Total balances at 31 March 2014

Non-current
Payables
2014-15
£000

22
167

-

301
1,324

-

458
876
1,334

-

601
2,472
3,073

-

109

-

7,549

-

1,632

-

12,247

-

Current
Receivables
2013-14
£000
Balances with:
·          Other Central Government bodies
·          Local Authorities

Current
Payables
2014-15
£000

Non-current
Receivables
2013-14
£000

Current Payables
2013-14
£000

Non-current
Payables
2013-14
£000

371

-

32
2,014

-

126
919
1,045

-

368
3,470
3,838

-

17

-

6,868

-

1,433

-

12,752

-

122

NHS South Cheshire CCG - Annual Accounts 2014-15
15. Related party transactions
Details of related party transactions with individuals within 2014-15 are as follows:

Name

Role in CCG

Role within related party

Related party

Dr Andrew Wilson
Dr Andrew Wilson
Dr Andrew Wilson
Dr Andrew Wilson
Simon Whitehouse
Dr Annabel London
Dr Annabel London
Dr Andrew Hudson
Dr Mike Tate
Dr Michael Freeman
Dr Andrew Spooner
Dr Andrew Spooner
Dr Phil Goodwin
Dr Robert Pugh

Chair
Chair
Chair
Chair
Chief Officer
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Secondary Care Representative

GP Partner
Spouse employed by
Practice has income sharing agreement
Member of
Spouse employed by
GP Partner
Spouse is employed by
GP Partner
GP Partner
GP
GP Partner
Member
GP
Trustee

Ashfields Primary Care Centre
St Luke's (Cheshire) Hospice
Health2Works
South Cheshire GP Alliance
University Hospitals of North Midlands NHS Trust
Kiltearn Medical Centre
Mid Cheshire NHS Foundation Trust
Hungerford Medical Centre
Ashfields Primary Care Centre
Millcroft Medical Centre
Grosvenor Medical Centre
South Cheshire GP Alliance
Cedars Medical Centre
St Luke's (Cheshire) Hospice

Payments to
Related Party
£000
141
426
3
351
8,761
217
92,793
149
141
129
179
351
134
426

Receipts from
Related Party
£000

Payments to
Related Party
£000
144
358
7,812
174
89,854
144
102
133
110
358

Receipts from
Related Party
£000

32

Amounts owed to
Related Party
£000
29

362
17
555
12
29
14
14

Amounts due
from Related
Party
£000

552

21

Details of related party transactions with individuals within 2013-14 are as follows:

Name

Role in CCG

Role within related party

Related party

Dr Andrew Wilson
Dr Andrew Wilson
Simon Whitehouse
Dr Annabel London
Dr Annabel London
Dr Mike Tate
Dr Michael Freeman
Dr Andrew Spooner
Dr Andrew Hudson
Dr Robert Pugh

Chair
Chair
Chief Officer
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Governing Body Member
Secondary Care Representative

GP Partner
Spouse employed from Jan 14
Spouse is employed by
GP Partner
Spouse is employed by
GP Partner
GP Partner
GP Partner
GP Partner
Trustee

Ashfields Primary Care Centre
St Luke's (Cheshire) Hospice
University Hospital of North Staffordshire NHS Trust
Kiltearn Medical Centre
Mid Cheshire NHS Foundation Trust
Ashfields Primary Care Centre
Millcroft Medical Centre
Grosvenor Medical Centre
Hungerford Medical Centre
St Luke's (Cheshire) Hospice

Amounts owed to
Related Party
£000
28
2
485
39
1,022
28
22
17
19
2

Amounts due
from Related
Party
£000

660

For both 2013-14 and 2014-15 the Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the two years the clinical commissioning group has had a significant number of material transactions
with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent body.
In addition, the clinical commissioning group has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies.
The majority of these transactions have been with Cheshire East Council.
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16. Losses and special payments
16.1 Losses
The total number of NHS Clinical Commissioning Group losses and special payments cases, and their total value, was as follows:

Administrative write-offs
Fruitless payments
Store losses
Book Keeping Losses
Constructive loss
Cash losses
Claims abandoned
Total

Total Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
-

Total Value of
Cases
2014-15
£'000
-

Total Number of
Cases
2013-14
Number
-

Total Value of
Cases
2013-14
£'000

-

-

-

Total Value of
Cases
2014-15
£'000
-

Total Number of
Cases
2013-14
Number
-

Total Value of
Cases
2013-14
£'000
-

-

16.2 Special payments

Compensation payments
Extra contractual Payments
Ex gratia payments
Extra statutory extra regulatory payments
Special severance payments
Total

Total Number of
Cases
2014-15
Number
1
1

-

2

2
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17. Contingent Liabilities
During 2013/14 and 2014/15 the Clinical Commissioning Group has had no contingent liabilities.
18. Operating Segments
International Reporting Standards (IFRS) require financial performance to be analysed across key decision making segments.
The Clinical Commissioning Group has only one segments; commissioning of healthcare services.
19. Impact of IFRS
Accounting under IFRS had no impact on the results of the Clinical Commissioning Group in the 2014/2015 reporting period or 2013/14
20. Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning Group or consolidated group.
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21. Financial performance targets
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:
2014-15
Target

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in
Directions

2014-15
Performance

2014-15
Duty Achieved?

209,202

208,182

Yes

66

66

Yes

209,135

208,115

Yes

2013-14
Target

2013-14
Performance

200,104
199,596

2013-14
Duty Achieved?
Yes

198,121

NA

-

Yes

197,613

-

-

NA

-

-

NA

-

-

NA

-

-

NA

4,664

3,977

Yes

4,260

Yes

3,359
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Appendix 2: NHS South Cheshire CCG Governing
Body Biographies
Dr Andrew Wilson
Dr Wilson graduated from the University of Nottingham with a degree in
Pharmacy before undertaking practical training as a hospital pharmacist. He
obtained a master of philosophy degree in the area of neuropharmacology
after two years research work. Following this, he studied medicine at the
University of Birmingham graduating in 1996.
Since becoming a GP, he has developed varied clinical interests including
musculoskeletal medicine and has always had an interest in holistic
approaches to medicine. He was a partner at Hungerford Rd in Crewe for
several years then moved to Ashfields in Sandbach where he i s currently a
half time partner. The rest of the time, he chairs the CCG.

Simon Whitehouse
Simon Whitehouse is the Chief Officer for both NHS South Cheshire CCG and
NHS Vale Royal CCG. He is committed to delivering the best health services
for the population of Vale Royal and South Cheshire.
Simon has worked in the NHS for over 15 y ears in a num ber of roles. He
graduated as a Physiotherapist in 1995 having trained at the Robert Jones &
Agnes Hunt Orthopaedic Hospital before working for several years as a
clinician at the University Hospital of North Staffordshire. From that clinical
post Simon moved to a role in the Industrial and E mployment Relations
Department of the Chartered Society of Physiotherapy based in London. In
2002 Simon joined the national pay team at the Department of Health and the
Modernisation Agency. He worked with a n umber of organisations and
Strategic Health Authorities on the introduction of the new pay system.
In 2004 S imon joined Central Cheshire PCT as Director of Workforce
Modernisation and t hen subsequently took over as Director of Primary Care
where he led on the commissioning of all the PCT’s Independent Contractors.
He completed his Masters in Change Management and Leader ship with
Manchester University in 2009 and has an interest in organisational and
system change, believing that good leadership is at the core of all effective
teams.
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Lynda Risk
Lynda is a chartered accountant by profession and has worked in the NHS for
nearly 20 years. After qualifying, Lynda moved to the NHS in Wales initially in
audit and then as Associate Director of Finance, looking after the financial
accounts, a number of secondary care contracts and GP fund holding. After a
period of 4 y ears Lynda moved to the North West Regional Office as the
primary care finance lead for the North West Region, and became the North
West Red Book expert!
With the changes of government Lynda became involved in the development
of many primary care initiatives including PCGs, PMS, PDS and ultimately
PCTs. Feeling the need to get back to the coal face, Lynda moved to South
Cheshire and bec ame the Head of Finance for the Central Cheshire and
Crewe and D istrict PCGs, this involved managing a dev olved PCG based
financial budget and a contract portfolio including Mid Cheshire NHST. After
the advent of PCTs, Lynda moved into the commissioning team, taking on
performance, information and c ontracting and their related management
accounting functions. This ultimately involved the development and
implementation of payment by results. As the contracting function became
more complex and the PCTs in East and Central Cheshire merged, Lynda
became more focused on the contracting agenda.

Fiona Field
Fiona trained as primary school teacher with a degree in education. She then
moved into social work and s ocial care services and t hen retrained whilst
working as a social worker. Her first job was in a l ong stay psychiatric
institution moving people out into the community and closing down the
hospital. She has worked in most parts of the county of Cheshire and has
worked with all age groups and types of disabilities. Latterly in the council, she
was the County Manager for Older people’s services. She moved into the
NHS in 2004 t o join Central Cheshire Primary Care Trust as Director of the
Community Clinical Services., later becoming Director of Governance and
Strategy until the PCT was abolished in 2013.She has now joined South
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group working alongside local GPs to
commission local health services -working closer to local people is something
Fiona values greatly She is committed to public services and the improvement
of those services for the people who need t hem at vulnerable times of their
lives.
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Dr Annabel London
Dr Annabel London i s the locality representative for Nantwich and R ural
including Audlem and Wrenbury.

Dr Philip Goodwin
Dr Philip Goodwin is a full time partner at Cedars Medical Practice in
Sandbach. He represents Sandbach, Middlewich, Alsager, Scholar Green and
Haslington (SMASH) on the Governing Body of NHS South Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group.

Dr Andrew Hudson
Educated at St. Andrew’s University and Manchester Medical School, Andrew
graduated in 1988, and then completed a Masters degree (Merit) in Public
Health at the Nuffield Institute in Leeds.
Andrew gained experience working in health care in New Zealand, Australia
and Malaysia before completing ten years as a GP Partner on the Isle of Man.
Andrew moved to his home county, Cheshire, in 2005 as a GP Partner at
Hungerford Medical Centre, Crewe. He took over as Crewe locality
representative in January 2014.

Dr Andrew Spooner
Dr Andrew Spooner is a par tner in the Grosvenor Medical Centre in Crewe.
He has researched why GPs take part in quality schemes, which has included
working with managers and other colleagues to understand what change is
likely to be s uccessful and ho w it can be implemented. Andrew has been
involved in quality assessment through the RCGP and w as a ne gotiator for
the QOF. He has an i nterest in Federations and C ommissioning and i s
involved with developing education to support Commissioners and GPs.
Andrew is a published author on quality.
Andrew is a pas t National Clinical Lead For PBC at the RCGP, and R CGP
Council representative for the Mersey Faculty. He represents all the executive
GPs on the Governing Body.
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Diane Noble
Diane has a background in business management and payroll, graduating as
a member of the Institute of Payroll and Pensions Management in 2000. She
has extensive experience spanning both the private and public sector working
for organisations including Central Trains and Cheshire East Borough
Council. Outside of work Diane is currently studying for a de gree and fills
some of her spare time on her local GP surgery Patient Participation Group
(PPG), as a m ember of the South Cheshire Federation of PPGs and is
involved with a num ber of local charities. She is overwhelmingly passionate
about ensuring the patient’s voice is not only heard but also influences the
direction of the services commissioned by the CCG.

Graham Bruce
Graham, an IT specialist, worked for 40 y ears in the manufacturing sector.
Having retired from the position of European IT Director with a large US
company was appointed as a Director of Central & Eastern Cheshire PCT for
six years prior to being appointed to the Governing Body of South Cheshire
CCG. He also spent three years as a Lay Member on one of the GMC subcommittees.
Graham is also currently Vice Chair of a m edium sized housing association
operating in the Greater Manchester and Cheshire areas.

John Clough
John is a Chartered Accountant with many years’ experience in the provision
of Audit, Accountancy and B usiness Advisory services to a wide range of
clients. Until recently John was a partner in a ‘ top ten’ firm of Chartered
Accountants, based in Stoke on Tr ent. John has also been i nvolved
throughout his career on a v oluntary basis with a num ber of public and
charitable bodies. He was a Director of the UK National Management
company of his firm and was also the treasurer and past President of the
North Staffs Society of Chartered Accountants.
Born and educ ated in Blackpool, John moved to West Yorkshire after
qualifying and bec ame a partner in a Leeds based firm which then merged
with a National practice. He also spent some time in the North East before
moving to Cheshire in 1993.
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Judi Thorley
Judi is a Registered General Adult Nurse and Registered Learning Disability
Nurse with over 27 y ears’ experience. Judi has held various leadership
positions in different organisations within the NHS, leading service change
and development at a local, regional and national level. Judi is one of only 2
Registered Learning Disability Nurses to have been selected for the Kings
fund, Johnson & Johnson Nurse Leadership programme in 2002. This
opportunity increased Judi’s interest in effecting real change for those most
vulnerable in our society and led to her undertaking a M aster’s degree in
Organisational Leadership in Health and Social Care at Nottingham
University, graduating in 2006. Passionate about high quality care for all Judi
likes to work with patients/service users, carers, partners and s taff to listen
and hear real life experiences to collaboratively improve services.

Dr Robert Pugh
Bob comes from Bolsover in North Derbyshire and q ualified as Doctor in
Leeds in 1971. After training posts in Yorkshire, Edinburgh, Glasgow and at
Alder Hey in Liverpool, he became a second Consultant Paediatrician at
Leighton Hospital in November 1978.
He also continued for a few years, his research work started in Liverpool
associated with children with severe visual impairment and ot her disabilities
which led to national publications and w ith colleagues set up the first multi
professional visual assessment team in the UK.
At Leighton as a C onsultant, as well as a bus y clinical workload, he hel ped
develop the children’s home nursing team and continued and dev eloped
specialist interests in children with cancer (in conjunction with Alder Hey),
neurodisability and epi lepsy. He was clinical director and Child health
strategic lead for over 15 years and the Trust’s lead for Child Safeguarding
until 2008.
In 2008, he retired from active clinical practice to continue his other interest of
medical education (mainly Undergraduate teaching) and left this post in July
2013 maintaining some contacts with the University of Manchester medical
school. Bob joined both CCG’S in September 2013 as the secondary care
doctor (consultant) to the governing body. He is a t rustee of St Lukes’s
Cheshire Hospice since 2013. He has recently become a member of the CQC
cohort of doctors acting as members of hospital inspections teams.
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Dr Heather Grimbaldeston
Heather undertook her medical training at The University of Manchester and
then pursued a career in hospital medicine in Manchester and the North East.
This was followed by a period of General Practice in Birmingham and t hen
Public Health Medicine training in the West Midlands. From August 1997,
following the births of her two children, Heather worked part-time as a Senior
Civil Servant and C onsultant in Public Health Medicine at the North West
Regional office.
Heather was appointed as Associate Director of Public Health & Research
and Development at the Greater Manchester Strategic Health Authority in
September 2002. She took up t he role as Deputy Director of Public
Health/Medical Director in 2004, and in July 2007 joined Central and Eastern
Cheshire Primary Care Trust in July 2007 as Director of Public Health.
Heather continues as Director of Public Health in Cheshire East Council after
the responsibility for some public health functions transferred to local
authorities in April 2013.
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